

# CQMC Health Equity Final Report

November 14, 2022

*This report is funded by the Department of Health and Human Services under contract HHSM-500-2017-6000601* - 75CMC21F0002

# Contents

Core Quality Measures Collaborative	3
Executive Summary	4
About the CQMC	6
About the CQMC Health Equity Workgroup	7
Disparities-Sensitive CQMC Measures	7
Strategies to Enable Identifying and Prioritizing Disparities Observed Within Measures That Compose Current CQMC Core Sets	14
Domains to Categorize Measures and Measure Concepts That Promote Health Equity	16
Health Equity Measure Scan	18
Future Opportunities for the CQMC to Advance Health Equity Measurement	20
Conclusion	21
References	23
Appendix A: Disparities-Sensitive Measures Within Core Quality Measures Collaborative Core Sets	25
Appendix B: Measures and Measure Concepts That Promote Health Equity	48
Appendix C: Public Comments and Workgroup Responses	51
Appendix D: Health Equity Workgroup Members, Organizational Liaisons, and NQF Staff	56
Appendix E: Health Equity Workgroup Members, Organizational Liaisons, and NQF Staff	62

# Core Quality Measures Collaborative

The Core Quality Measures Collaborative (CQMC) is a public-private partnership working to address the proliferation of measures by facilitating cross-payer measure alignment. The CQMC was convened in 2015 by America's Health Insurance Plans (AHIP). CQMC membership includes the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), health insurance providers, medical associations, consumer groups, purchasers (including employer group representatives), and other quality collaboratives working together to recommend core sets of measures by clinical area to assess the quality of healthcare in the United States (U.S.). The CQMC is a voluntary effort in which members choose to participate and subsequently promote the adoption of the core measures.



### **Executive Summary**

Health equity is the fair and just opportunity to achieve the highest level of health for all individuals regardless of race, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, socioeconomic status, geography, preferred language, or other factors that can affect access to healthcare and health outcomes.<sup>1=5</sup> There are numerous definitions of health equity with overarching themes, such as the support of societal efforts to address avoidable inequities (i.e., "systemic differences in the health status of different population groups") <sup>£</sup> and historical and contemporary injustices, including systemic racism, and the elimination of health and healthcare disparities (i.e., "a particular type of health difference that is closely linked with social, economic, and/or environmental disadvantages"),<sup>2</sup> which may manifest as negative outcomes impacting life expectancy, disease burden, disability, and quality of life.<sup>1=5</sup> It is essential to incorporate the patient voice when assessing and addressing these disparities to both improve understanding of individual needs and preferences and build equitable partnerships between patients, their care team, and social service systems. A focus on health equity is critical in helping to identify unwarranted variations in care in all healthcare settings, improving the quality and outcome of the healthcare provided throughout the patient's care journey, and identifying and eliminating health disparities.

The CQMC is a public-private partnership between AHIP and CMS convened by National Quality Forum (NQF). The CQMC is composed of over 70 member organizations, including health insurance providers, primary care and specialty societies, consumer and employer groups, and other quality collaboratives, working to facilitate cross-payer measure alignment. The CQMC has developed core measure sets that demonstrate an industry commitment to advancing healthcare quality and creating actionable information for consumers while simultaneously reducing stakeholder burden.

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic illuminated stark disparities in our healthcare systems and highlighted the need to improve health equity. Recognizing the important role of performance measurement and value-based care in advancing health equity, the CQMC has taken several steps to begin addressing disparities. First, the CQMC revised its <u>Principles for Core Measure</u> <u>Selection</u> to more clearly emphasize the importance of selecting measures that advance health equity. Additionally, recent CQMC work identified measurement gaps and priorities and highlighted the broad need for measures that incorporate our understanding of social determinants of health (SDOH) and can be used to identify and therefore address disparities. In 2022, the CQMC established the Health Equity Workgroup to ensure perspectives on health inequities and disparities are considered and elevated through the CQMC core sets. This report highlights the Workgroup's efforts by describing the following:

- Approach for identifying disparities-sensitive measures within the CQMC core sets
- Results of applying the disparities-sensitive identification approach to measures within the CQMC core sets
- Strategies for methods that will enable identifying and prioritizing disparities observed within the measures that compose the CQMC core sets
- Classifications of domains to categorize measures for the CQMC that promote health equity measurement
- Methodology for identifying existing measures and measure concepts that promote health equity

- List of existing measures and measure concepts that promote health equity and align with the CQMC's measure selection criteria
- Opportunities for the CQMC to advance health equity measurement in the future

The approach for identifying disparities-sensitive measures in the CQMC core sets is as follows: If the measure topic area assesses one of the identified priority clinical areas (i.e., clinical areas or conditions determined to disproportionately impact underserved communities), OR it addresses an area with disparities, AND it meets at least one predefined characteristic, then the measure is disparities-sensitive. Based on the 2017 NQF report titled <u>A Roadmap for Promoting Health Equity and Eliminating</u> <u>Disparities: The Four I's for Health Equity</u>, the measure characteristics being evaluated for this approach are as follows: (1) The measure's denominator includes patients disproportionally affected by social risks compared to the general population; (2) The measure is specified for ambulatory settings; and (3) The measure is classified as an outcome measure (see Figure 1). After applying this approach to 150 measures across 10 CQMC core sets, 137 disparities-sensitive measures were identified. Of the measures:

- 19 met the priority clinical area or measurement area with disparities criterion and met all three measure characteristics;
- 93 met the priority clinical area or measurement area with disparities criterion and met two measure characteristics; and
- 25 met the priority clinical area or measurement area with disparities criterion and met one measure characteristic.

A significant finding of this work is that almost all measures in the CQMC core sets are considered disparities-sensitive, suggesting that implementation of the core measures is an important strategy in advancing equity. Although 13 measures did not meet the criteria for disparities sensitivity using this approach, the Health Equity Workgroup recognized that all measures likely have some level of disparity, but the disparities may not have been measured yet, or more resources are needed in those areas to assess the disparities. While this work is an initial step towards prioritization, the Workgroup also recognized the need to further prioritize which measures to implement and stratify to make measurement and improvement feasible, particularly because there are often limited resources to support such work. The Workgroup identified three strategies to enable further identification and prioritization of disparities observed within measures to; (2) Improve the ability to stratify measures by modifying measure specification and testing requirements; and (3) Stratify data to assess disparities and inform setting benchmarks. One potential additional prioritization approach, the lens of disparities-sensitive measures that are broadly applicable, was briefly explored in this phase of work. This approach and additional approaches and criteria will be explored in the next phase of work.

NQF reviewed foundational literature, measure databases, and measures included in value-based programs to identify existing measures and measure concepts that are not currently in the CQMC core sets that promote health equity and are publicly available. A total of 31 additional existing measures and measure concepts were identified, and the CQMC's measure selection principles were applied. After eliminating 20 measures and measure concepts that addressed health at the population level or were index measures (i.e., assesses a topic using more than one data item)<sup>8</sup>, a total of 11 measures and measure concepts remained at the clinician, facility, or plan level of analysis. These 11 measures and

measure concepts were then categorized into domains for the CQMC that promote health equity. The domains are Enablers of Cultural Responsiveness, Access, Social Needs/Risks, Quality of Care, and an Equity Ecosystem.

The Workgroup also explored future opportunities for the CQMC to advance health equity measurement. These opportunities include the following:

- Encouraging stratification of all existing measures in the core sets to help assess and address disparities
- Incorporating measures that directly assess the drivers of health equity (e.g., social needs assessment, access to care) into each core set
- Supporting and aligning with initiatives related to standardizing health equity-related electronic data elements
- Facilitating cross-organizational sharing of best practices to stratify data to assess disparities and to leverage the data to address the disparities identified
- Closing identified measurement gaps to promote health equity in the CQMC

This report is foundational to identifying and addressing disparities identified in CQMC measures and advancing health equity within the CQMC. The CQMC remains dedicated to these goals and will continue to engage the Health Equity and clinical core set Workgroups to build upon and refine the activities described in the report during future work.

# About the CQMC

The CQMC is a unique and collective effort designed to align measures and promote measurement initiatives between public and private payers across the country. The CQMC accomplishes these goals by maintaining clinical core measure sets, or parsimonious groups of scientifically sound measures, that efficiently promote a patient-centered assessment of quality and should be prioritized for adoption in value-based payment (VBP) programs and alternative payment models (APMs). The CQMC prioritizes clinician-level measurement in the outpatient setting and is developed using a multistakeholder process.

These core sets are available on the <u>CQMC core sets page</u> and cover the following topic areas:

- 1. Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs), Patient-Centered Medical Homes (PCMH), and Primary Care (PC)
- 2. Cardiology
- 3. Gastroenterology
- 4. Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) and Hepatitis C
- 5. Medical Oncology
- 6. Obstetrics and Gynecology (OB/GYN)
- 7. Orthopedics
- 8. Pediatrics
- 9. Neurology
- 10. Behavioral Health

The CQMC also focuses on high-priority measurement initiatives, including digital measurement, measure model alignment, implementation of the CQMC core measure sets, and health equity. These

ongoing initiatives utilize the expertise and varied perspectives across members to gather current efforts and advance measurement by sharing best and promising practices. More about the CQMC can be found on the <u>CQMC website</u>.

# About the CQMC Health Equity Workgroup

The CQMC Health Equity Workgroup is composed of 35 experts (<u>Appendix E</u>) with varied expert perspectives, representing payers, providers, consumers, health equity researchers, measurement experts, regulatory agencies, and healthcare collaboratives, to provide and share ongoing expertise in this field. This Workgroup was convened through a public call for nominations process and aims to advance health equity by ensuring perspectives on health inequities and disparities are elevated and integrated throughout the future of the CQMC core sets. The Workgroup met in April, May, June, and August 2022 to meet the following objectives:

- Identify current CQMC measures that are disparities-sensitive
- Identify existing health equity measures and measure concepts for potential use across payers in value-based contracts
- Classify domains to categorize existing measures and measure concepts for the CQMC that promote health equity measurement
- Recommend strategies for methods that will enable identifying and prioritizing disparities observed within measures that compose current core sets
- Outline future opportunities for the CQMC to advance health equity measurement

The Workgroup's discussions were incorporated into this Final Report, which was posted for a 14-day review and commenting period in August 2022 (<u>Appendix D</u>).

Unless a fact or comment is explicitly attributed to a specific source, the information in this report was based on the Workgroup's deliberations and synthesized by NQF.

# Disparities-Sensitive CQMC Measures

The identification of disparities-sensitive measures within the CQMC core sets is intended to help direct efforts on gathering actionable performance data to those stakeholders able to affect change within their practices. A disparities-sensitive measure detects not only differences in quality across institutions or in relation to certain benchmarks, but also differences in quality among populations or social groups (race, ethnicity, language, etc.).<u>9</u> The process to identify disparities-sensitive measures within the CQMC core sets has evolved based on discussions with the Workgroup. The identification of disparities-sensitive measures and measure concepts that promote health equity in the <u>Health Equity Measure Scan</u> below.

#### Background for the Approach

The initial high-level environmental scan to inform the identification of measures as disparities-sensitive reviewed NQF's earlier work and the work of other key stakeholders that focused on disparities-sensitive measurement. The following literature was selected for this review:

• NQF's <u>National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Ambulatory Care – Measuring Healthcare</u> <u>Disparities</u> (2008)

- The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation's (RWJF) <u>Commissioned Paper: Healthcare Disparities</u> <u>Measurement</u> (2011)
- NQF's <u>Healthcare Disparities and Cultural Competency Consensus Standards: Disparities</u>-<u>Sensitive Measure Assessment</u> (2012)
- NQF's <u>Roadmap for Promoting Health Equity and Eliminating Disparities: The Four I's for Health</u> Equity (2017)
- National Committee for Quality Assurance's (NCQA) <u>State of Equity White Paper</u> (2021)

Additionally, the 2012 NQF Disparities-Sensitive Protocol from the <u>Healthcare Disparities and Cultural</u> <u>Competency Consensus Standards: Disparities-Sensitive Measure Assessment</u> is a tool for assessing which measures are disparities-sensitive. This method evaluates and assigns a separate point value to three attributes:

- Prevalence (i.e., considers how prevalent the condition or topic is among underserved populations, with more prevalent conditions receiving a higher point value)
- Disparities quality gap (i.e., considers the percent difference in quality of care between an underserved population and the population with the highest quality for that measure with larger percentage gaps receiving a higher point value)
- Impact (i.e., considers the effect of the condition or topic financially, publicly, and on the population with higher impact measures receiving a higher point value)

If the point values for the three attributes total nine or higher, the measure is considered disparitiessensitive. The methodology also considers a measure to be disparities-sensitive if it has a disparities quality gap of 14 percent or higher, regardless of the point value total for all three attributes.

The high-level environmental scan of the literature listed above identified a range of measures within the CQMC core sets as disparities-sensitive. The ACO/PCMH/PC core set had the most measures identified as disparities-sensitive by the literature (e.g., controlling high blood pressure, diabetes control, cervical cancer and breast cancer screening, and depression screening and management), which was likely due to the measure denominators including large populations generally associated with screenings and other prevention measures. The Pediatrics, OB/GYN, Cardiology, Orthopedics, Me dical Oncology, and Behavioral Health core sets each had one or two measures identified as disparities - sensitive, while the HIV/Hepatitis C, Gastroenterology, and Neurology core sets did not have disparities - sensitive measures identified by the literature, including the 2012 NQF disparities-sensitive protocol.

The Workgroup found the results of the environmental scan to be insufficient. It also noted that the NQF Disparities-Sensitive Protocol is 10 years old and may need to be revised, citing that the 14 percent benchmark was noted to be arbitrary, and that using "prevalence" in the protocol may inadequately represent high-impact and low-volume illnesses, including those that may disproportionately impact underserved communities (e.g., sickle cell disease). In addition, it is challenging to identify quality gaps where stratification of a measure has not yet occurred since data are not yet available. Therefore, a modified approach to identifying disparities-sensitive measures within the CQMC core sets was developed in conjunction with the Workgroup to address the limitations in the existing protocols.

#### Approach

The Health Equity Workgroup developed a modified approach to determine whether measures within the CQMC core sets are disparities-sensitive (see Figure 1). This approach first considers whether the measure addresses a <u>priority clinical area</u> or <u>a measurement area associated with disparities</u>. These areas were identified based on existing literature; additional details can be found below.

Next, the process assesses whether the measure meets at least one <u>measure characteristic</u>. A Roadmap for Promoting Health Equity and Eliminating Disparities: The Four I's for Health Equity lays out four actions stakeholders can employ to reduce disparities: identify and prioritize reducing health disparities, implement evidence-based interventions to reduce disparities, invest in the development and use of health equity performance measures, and incentivize the reduction of health disparities and achievement of health equity. Based on that report, the measure characteristics being evaluated for this approach are as follows: (1) The measure's denominator includes patients disproportionally affected by social risks compared to the general population (e.g., consistent with the current state of the literature about disparities for the relevant measure topic, such as cardiovascular disease [CVD]); (2) The measure is specified for ambulatory settings; and (3) The measure is classified as an outcome measure. Additional details can be found below.

Measures that met those criteria (either addressing a priority condition or a measurement area associated with disparities and meeting at least one of the predefined measure characteristics) were determined to be disparities-sensitive.



Figure 1: Approach to Identify Disparities-Sensitive Measures Within CQMC Core Sets

#### Priority Clinical Conditions

A list of initial priority clinical conditions were identified based on the <u>CMS Framework on Health Equity</u>, <u>OMH Focus Areas</u>, and the <u>Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) 2021 National</u> <u>Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report</u> and include the following conditions:

- Substance use disorder (e.g., opioid use)
- CVD (e.g., hypertension, congestive heart failure)
- Maternal and infant health

- Sickle cell disease and trait
- Diabetes (e.g., prevention of peripheral artery and kidney disease)
- Lupus
- Cancer (e.g., stomach, liver, and cervical)
- Dementia and Alzheimer's
- Asthma
- Behavioral health
- HIV/Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)
- COVID-19

Some areas (e.g., CVD and maternal and infant health) overlap with measures in existing CQMC core sets, and some areas (e.g., lupus and sickle cell anemia) do not have measures represented in the 2021 CQMC core sets. This initial list of priority clinical conditions should evolve over time with the inclusion of additional literature.

#### Measurement Areas Associated With Disparities

The initial measurement areas associated with disparities were identified based on the RWJF's 2011 <u>Commissioned Paper: Healthcare Disparities Report</u> and NQF's 2012 <u>Disparities-Sensitive Measure</u> <u>Assessment</u>. Of note, measures are often multifactorial and may be classified in multiple measurement areas (e.g., readmissions are linked with transitions and communication-sensitive services). The specific topic areas included are as follows:

- Transitions (e.g., discharge, referral)
- Readmissions
- Patient/Consumer Surveys
- Patient-Reported Outcomes (e.g., depression assessments)
- Patient Education
- Screening
- Communication-Sensitive Services (e.g., care coordination)
- Care With a High Degree of Discretion (e.g., practices that do not have a standard protocol)
- Social Determinant-Dependent Measures (e.g., measure performance is linked to social risks)

#### Measure Characteristics

The approach to identifying disparities-sensitive measures also includes assessing whether the measure meets at least one of the measure characteristics outlined in <u>A Roadmap for Promoting Health Equity</u> and Eliminating Disparities: The Four I's for Health Equity. This report considers the following measure characteristics to further the evaluation of disparities sensitivity:

- Measure Characteristic 1: The measure's denominator includes patients disproportionally affected by social risks compared to the general population (e.g., consistent with the current state of the literature about disparities for the relevant measure topic, such as CVD; denominators that include the entire population do not fit this criterion).
- Measure Characteristic 2: The measure's denominator is specified for ambulatory settings.
- Measure Characteristic 3: The measure is classified as an outcome measure.

The NQF Disparities Standing Committee developed these criteria as a strategy to identify outcome measures that could address disparities but did not meet the NQF disparities -sensitive criteria in use at the time of the 2017 report. However, these criteria could help the CQMC to identify measures that meet its charge of aligning clinician-level measures that address ambulatory care. Additionally, these criteria attempt to ensure measures are actionable and within a clinician's locus of control.

#### Limitations

The approach to identifying disparities-sensitive measures within the CQMC core sets is pragmatic. It serves as the first step to identifying disparities-sensitive measures and may not capture all categories of measures that could be disparities-sensitive. For example, the list of priority clinical areas and measurement areas associated with disparities may evolve over time. The results produced by this approach will not be reflective of all disparities across the health ecosystem because it is focused on identifying disparities-sensitive measures within the CQMC core sets, which may not include measures for certain conditions that disproportionally affect racial or ethnic minorities as those measures may not exist or may not be within the scope of CQMC's core sets. This approach also does not incorporate performance data for the measures because these data were inconsistently available, incomplete, and/or outdated. The measure characteristic that assesses whether the measure's denominator includes patients disproportionally affected by social risks compared to the general population may be subjective because there are limited data available to fully assess social risks. Therefore, this classification was designated to be consistent with the current state of the literature related to disparities for the relevant measure topic, such as CVD; denominators that include the entire population did not fit this measure characteristic. Additionally, some measure specifications were not fully publicly available, resulting in those measure characteristics being approximated based on information that was publicly available.

While not identified as a limitation by the Workgroup, this approach identifies most CQMC measures as disparities-sensitive and <u>additional prioritization</u> may be needed.

#### Findings

As of 2021, there are 150 measures within the CQMC core sets. The approach to identifying disparitiessensitive measures within the CQMC core sets identified 137 disparities-sensitive measures. Of these measures:

- 19 met the priority clinical area or measurement area associated with disparities criterion and met all three measure characteristics;
- 93 met the priority clinical area or measurement area associated with disparities criterion and met two measure characteristics; and
- 25 met the priority clinical area or measurement area associated with disparities criterion and met one measure characteristic.

Measures not identified as disparities-sensitive by this approach either did not assess an identified priority clinical condition or a measurement area associated with disparities, or separately, did not meet any of the measure characteristics. Of note: If the measures are not identified as disparities-sensitive by this approach, it does not necessarily mean they are not disparities-sensitive. Rather, their status is

unclear based on current information and can be reevaluated in the future. A summary table is included in <u>Appendix A</u>; additional information about each core set is provided below.

CQMC Core Set	Meets 3 Measure Characteristics	Meets 2 Measure Characteristics	Meets 1 Measure Characteristic	Unmeasured Disparities	Total
ACO/PCMH/PC	3	14	3	2	22
Behavioral Health	2	8	2	0	12
Cardiology	5	20	2	0	27
Gastroenterology	1	3	4	0	8
HIV/Hepatitis C	1	7	0	0	8
Medical Oncology	4	7	5	1	17
Neurology	0	3	2	0	5
Obstetrics and Gynecology	3	12	3	1	19
Orthopedics	0	15	2	3	20
Pediatrics	0	4	2	6	12
Total	19	93	25	13	150

Table 1: Summary of Disparities-Sensitive Measures by CQMC Core Set

The 19 measures that met the priority clinical area or measurement area associated with disparities criterion and met all three measure characteristics are as follows:

- ACO/PCMH/Primary Care:
  - NQF #0059 Comprehensive Diabetes Care: HbA1c Poor Control (>9.0%)
  - <u>NQF #0018</u> Controlling High Blood Pressure
  - NQF #1885 Depression Response at 12 Months Progress Towards Remission
- Cardiology:
  - o <u>NQF #0018</u> Controlling High Blood Pressure
  - NQF #2474 Cardiac Tamponade and/or Pericardiocentesis Following Atrial Fibrillation Ablation
  - o MIPS ID 377 Functional Status Assessments for Congestive Heart Failure
  - NQF #0694 Hospital Risk-Standardized Complication Rate Following Implantation of Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillator
  - MIPS ID 441 Ischemic Vascular Disease (IVD) All or None Outcome Measure (Optimal Control)
- HIV/Hepatitis C:
  - o <u>NQF #2082/NQF #3210e</u> HIV Viral Load Suppression
- Gastroenterology:
  - MIPS ID 343 Screening Colonoscopy Adenoma Detection Rate Measure
- Medical Oncology:
  - NQF #3490 Admission and Emergency Department (ED) Visits for Patients Receiving Outpatient Chemotherapy

- NQF #0384/NQF #0384e Oncology: Pain Intensity Quantified Medical Oncology and Radiation Oncology
- o <u>OCM-6</u> Patient-Reported Experience of Care
- NQF #0211 Proportion of Patients Who Died From Cancer With More Than One Emergency Room Visit in the Last 30 Days of Life
- Obstetrics and Gynecology:
  - <u>NQF #2902</u> Contraceptive Care Postpartum
  - NQF #3543 Person-Centered Contraceptive Counseling (PCCC) Measure
  - <u>HEDIS</u> Postpartum Depression Screening and Follow-Up (PDS)
- Behavioral Health:
  - NQF #1884 Depression Response at Six Months Progress Towards Remission
  - NQF #1885 Depression Response at 12 Months Progress Towards Remission

The Cardiology, Gastroenterology, HIV/Hepatitis C, Neurology, and Behavioral Health core sets are fully composed of measures that are categorized as disparities-sensitive; additional details can be found in Appendix A.

#### Summary of Measures Not Identified as Disparities Sensitive

The 13 measures not categorized as disparities-sensitive are in the ACO/PCMH/PC, Medical Oncology, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Orthopedics, and Pediatrics core sets. A description of how each measure did not meet the disparities-sensitive criteria is provided below.

#### ACO/PCMH/PC Core Set

Two measures were not identified as being disparities-sensitive because they did not focus on a priority clinical condition or measurement area associated with disparities:

- NQF #0052 Use of Imaging Studies for Low Back Pain
- NQF #0058 Avoidance of Antibiotic Treatment in Adults With Acute Bronchitis (AAB)

#### Medical Oncology

One measure, NQF #0223 Adjuvant Chemotherapy Is Considered or Administered Within Four Months (120 Days) of Diagnosis to Patients Under the Age of 80 With AJCC III (Lymph Node Positive) Colon Cancer, was not identified as being disparities-sensitive. While the measure does focus on a priority clinical area (cancer), it does not meet any of the measure characteristic criteria.

#### Obstetrics and Gynecology

One measure, NQF #0223 Adjuvant Chemotherapy Is Considered or Administered Within Four Months (120 Days) of Diagnosis to Patients Under the Age of 80 With AJCC III (Lymph Node Positive) Colon Cancer, was not identified as being disparities-sensitive. While the measure does focus on a priority clinical area (cancer), it does not meet any of the measure characteristic criteria.

#### Orthopedics

Three measures were not identified as being disparities-sensitive because they were not focused on a priority clinical condition or measurement area associated with disparities:

- NQF #3493 Risk-Standardized Complication Rate (RSCR) Following Elective Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty (THA) and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA) for Merit-Based Incentive Payment System (MIPS) Eligible Clinicians and Eligible Clinician Groups
- NQF #1150 Hospital-Level Risk-Standardized Complication Rate (RSCR) Following Elective Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty (THA) and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA)
- NQF #1551 Hospital-Level 30-Day, All-Cause Risk Standardized Readmission Rate (RSRR) Following Elective Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty (THA) and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA)

#### Pediatrics

Six measures were not identified as being disparities-sensitive. Five measures did not focus on a priority clinical condition or measurement area associated with disparities:

- NQF #0038 Childhood Immunization Status (CIS)
- NQF #1407 Immunizations for Adolescents (IMA)
- NQF #0002 Appropriate Testing for Children With Pharyngitis (CWP) (no longer endorsed)
- NQF #0069 Appropriate Treatment for Children With Upper Respiratory Infection (URI)
- NQF #2811e Acute Otitis Media Appropriate First-Line Antibiotics

Additionally, one measure, NQF #1448 *Developmental Screening in the First Three Years of Life* (no longer endorsed), did focus on a measurement area associated with disparities (screening) but did not meet any of the measure characteristic criteria.

#### Support for Implementing CQMC Core Set Measures

Overall, this approach highlights that the CQMC core set measures are highly sensitive to identifying healthcare disparities, underscoring the importance of these measures and their implementation. The <u>CQMC Principles for Core Measure Selection</u> emphasize selecting measures that will drive improvements in quality and equity. Given the high concordance between the core set measures and disparities sensitivity, implementation of the CQMC core sets is an important strategy to advance health equity. The CQMC core set measures could be prioritized for use to advance health equity through value-based care arrangements. However, implementing and stratifying measures to advance equity will require an incremental approach, given the limitations in data and resources. Additional work is needed to prioritize measures within the core sets to begin to work towards the goal of advancing equity.

# Strategies to Enable Identifying and Prioritizing Disparities Observed Within Measures That Compose Current CQMC Core Sets

The Health Equity Workgroup used a pragmatic approach to determine which measures in the CQMC core sets are disparities-sensitive and to help identify which measures providers, payers, and other stakeholders may want to prioritize to begin to address observed disparities. A significant challenge to identifying healthcare disparities is the limited data available on patient demographics as well as on social risks and needs. Although 14 measures did not meet the criteria for disparities sensitivity using this approach, the Workgroup recognized that all measures likely have some level of disparity; however, the disparities may not have been measured yet, or more resources are needed in those areas to assess the disparities. The Workgroup acknowledged that, from a practical perspective, it would be helpful to prioritize the identified disparities-sensitive measures so that organizations can focus potentially limited

resources and understand how best to begin addressing disparities. The Workgroup identified three strategies to enable further identification and prioritization of the disparities observed within measures that compose current CQMC core sets.

The first strategy is to determine which measures to prioritize and dedicate resources to. While not all approaches to achieve this strategy are feasible in the current state of quality measurement, ideal state approaches for prioritization include:

- obtaining input from the target population to identify the groups for which the disparities are more prevalent or acute (e.g., use of patient-reported outcome measures to assess patient experiences of inequities);
- considering the impact of the disparity, by evaluating either benefits missed based on the differences in treatment or potential benefits gained by reducing disparities, and focusing on the measures with the biggest impact;
- evaluating screening and outcome measures together to tie the impact of processes to healthcare outcomes;
- assessing the ease of data collection for the measures (e.g., prioritizing measures that use electronically extracted data);
- evaluating available data (e.g., literature, existing data from measures that include stratified data) to reveal where significant disparities exist;
- appraising the core set in its entirety against the literature to identify the measures with the most disparities sensitivity;
- starting with the disparities-sensitive measures that meet all three measure characteristics; and
- focusing on the measures that are broadly applicable (e.g., used in multiple core sets or have been previously identified as cross-cutting in previous CQMC efforts) or used in multiple value-based payment programs.

The approach of prioritizing disparities-sensitive measures that <u>meet all three measure characteristics</u> identified 19 measures across seven core sets. Another potential approach to further prioritize disparities-sensitive measures is to examine measures that are broadly applicable. A broadly applicable measure is defined as either being used in multiple CQMC core sets, or was previously identified in CQMC work as broadly applicable (i.e., cross-cutting measures identified in a 2022 <u>Analysis of</u> <u>Measurement Gap Areas and Measure Alignment</u> or measures identified by the 2021 CQMC Cross-Cutting Workgroup). An initial application of this approach revealed nine measures meet both criteria of being broadly applicable, and 23 measures met at least one criterion of being broadly applicable. Two of the 23 broadly applicable measures, NQF #0018 Controlling High Blood Pressure, and NQF #1885 Depression Response at Twelve Months – Progress Towards Remission, also met all three measure characteristics. A complete list of broadly applicable measures can be found in <u>Appendix C</u>. Additional prioritization approaches will also be considered as this work continues in late 2022/early 2023.

The second strategy is to support and advance the development of electronic data elements and data sharing standards for robust, accurate, and interoperable demographic and social risks data. These data will improve the ability to stratify measures by modifying measure specifications and testing requirements. For example, the CQMC can coordinate with measure stewards to encourage the testing of measures for the groups with the highest disparities to ensure the reliability and validity of the data

when measures are stratified. The Health Equity Workgroup noted that the limitations of existing socioeconomic status data are a challenge to clearly identifying the gap areas that should be tested. NQF's <u>Developing and Testing Risk Adjustment Models for Social and Functional Status-Related Risk</u> <u>Within Healthcare Performance Measurement Technical Guidance</u> includes best practices for functional and social risk factor adjustments in measure development and can be used as a reference for improving the ability to stratify measures.

The third strategy is to stratify data to assess disparities and inform setting benchmarks. The results of assessing stratified data can be used for both internal quality improvement purposes among providers and external accountability with payer programs. However, the Workgroup cautioned that the measures must be reliable when the data are stratified, particularly if used for accountability. Additionally, care must be taken to ensure each disparities category that is stratified should improve or maintain its results instead of one category being penalized when improving another category. The Workgroup also acknowledged that data collection and stratification can be burdensome, particularly for smaller organizations that may not have the resources to collect or evaluate their own demographic data for disparities. In those circumstances, the Workgroup noted high quality imputed, individual-level data incorporating census information collected at the community level could potentially align with disparities seen at the organizational level. However, the Workgroup noted that the accuracy and reliability of these data should be evaluated before they are used for performance improvement and accountability. However, advances in health information technology and changes in measurement science could support greater data aggregation. This could lead to improved measure stratification and broader analysis for conditions that disproportionately affect minority populations but have low case volumes. For example, the implementation of the Trusted Exchange Framework and Common Agreement (TEFCA) could enable better data sharing to allow for more complete demographic data or the implementation of digital quality measures that use novel data sources. Similarly, the use of allpayer claims databases (APCDs) could also allow for a larger patient population that could support the use of measures for conditions affecting smaller numbers of people such as racial or ethnic minorities.

The Workgroup recommends considering these strategies in an iterative approach for them to be successfully implemented and that the entire care team should be accountable to addressing disparities, not solely individual clinicians or single specialty areas.

# Domains to Categorize Measures and Measure Concepts That Promote Health Equity

To further advance health equity measurement within the CQMC, the Health Equity Workgroup classified domains to categorize the identified existing measures and measure concepts that promote health equity. The intent was not to create a formal measurement framework; rather, these domains are a starting point to provide a complete view of health equity measurement as it relates to the CQMC's scope. They also serve as a foundation for the CQMC to build upon over time as health equity measurement advances.

The Workgroup considered the domains from six existing frameworks:

• NQF's <u>Roadmap for Promoting Health Equity and Eliminating Disparities: The Four I's for Health</u> Equity (2017)

- New England Journal of Medicine's (NEJM) <u>Health Care Equity: From Fragmentation to</u> <u>Transformation</u> (2020)
- Institute of Medicine's (IOM, now National Academy of Medicine) <u>Six Domains of Health Care</u> <u>Quality</u> (2001)
- Institute for Healthcare Improvement's (IHI) <u>Advancing Health Equity: A Guide for Health Care</u> <u>Organizations</u> (2016)
- NCQA's Multicultural Health Care: Demonstrating a Commitment to Equity (2020)
- RWJF's <u>Taking Action</u> (2022)

During the first web meeting, NQF shared the comparisons of frameworks and domains, which demonstrated differences in population focus and application to healthcare settings. For example, the IOM framework focuses on quality of care (with equity as a component of quality), while others focus on equity and include quality as a component. Several frameworks emphasize community partnerships and socioeconomic and environmental impacts. Using these frameworks as a starting point, the Workgroup identified and refined domains that may be most applicable to the CQMC's scope — clinician/clinician group measurement in the ambulatory setting (with the three domains on the right in light orange, Social Needs/Risks, Quality of Care, and Equity Ecosystem, being the most applicable). A visual representation of the domains and example topic areas is provided below, followed by additional detail about each domain.



#### Foundational Aspects

The Workgroup considered the importance of person-centered care; patient, family, and caregiver engagement; and disparities sensitivity as foundational to all domains.

#### Enablers of Cultural Responsiveness

The Enablers of Cultural Responsiveness domain includes topic areas such as governance and leadership, workforce diversity, learning systems, and collecting standardized demographic data. The standardized collection of demographic data should include the ability to measure populations known to experience access and outcome inequities (e.g., population with intellectual and developmental disabilities).

#### Access

The Access domain includes topic areas such as availability, accessibility, digital support, and linguistically appropriate care. Availability assesses the extent to which the healthcare system has the resources to meet the needs of the patient.<sup>8</sup> Accessibility includes a range of topics related to patients' ability to access medical information and medical care, including geographic distance.<sup>10</sup> Linguistically appropriate care can include language services, overall literacy, health literacy, and digital literacy.<sup>11</sup>

#### Social Needs/Risks

The Social Needs/Risks domain captures SDOH screening, which focuses on the social conditions necessary for health. Included in this domain are the identification and assistance with social needs, including food and transportation. While typically framed as social risks or social needs, SDOH can have both protective and adverse effects on a population.

#### Quality of Care

The Quality of Care domain emphasizes topics such as interventions to reduce disparities, effectiveness of care, and workforce safety. This domain is derived from the IOM's six domains of quality, which include safe, timely, effective, efficient, equitable, and patient-centered care.<sup>12</sup> These components reflect the importance of high quality clinical care within the healthcare delivery system.

#### Equity Ecosystem

The Equity Ecosystem domain includes the importance of partnering with community organizations and the coordination of care with other healthcare entities. Within this domain, an emphasis is placed on the inclusion of nontraditional organizations within care delivery and beyond to ensure patient needs are met outside of a traditional healthcare setting.

### Health Equity Measure Scan

#### Approach

To further advance health equity measurement within the CQMC, the Health Equity Workgroup considered existing, publicly available measures and measure concepts that promote health equity and align with the CQMC's scope. Measures are tools to quantify healthcare processes, outcomes, patient perceptions, and organizational structure and/or systems that are associated with the ability to provide high quality healthcare.<sup>13</sup> Measure concepts are ideas for measures that are not fully specified or tested.<sup>14</sup> A health equity measure is linked to interventions that are known to reduce disparities in populations with social risk factors and/or aligned with the priority domains of measurement.<sup>15</sup> A health equity measure illustrates or summarizes the extent to which the quality of healthcare provided by an organization contributes to reducing disparities in health and healthcare at the population level for those patients with greater social risk factor burden by increasing access to care, improving the care received, and improving the health of those patients.<sup>16</sup>

To identify existing measures and measure concepts that promote health equity, NQF reviewed foundational literature:

- NQF's Roadmap for Promoting Health Equity and Eliminating Disparities: The Four I's for Health Equity
- NCQA's <u>State of Equity White Paper</u>

Additionally, NQF reviewed publicly available measure databases: the CMS Measure Inventory Tool (<u>CMIT</u>), the Measure Applications Partnership (MAP) Measures Under Consideration (MUC) <u>list</u>, and NQF's Quality Positioning System (<u>QPS</u>). The following search terms were used:

- Access
- Equity
- Timeliness
- Social Determinants of Health
- Social Drivers
- Social Need
- Culture
- Cultural Competency
- Transitions
- Disparity
- Disparities-Sensitive

#### Findings

The scan identified 31 measures and measure concepts related to SDOH, cultural competency, accessibility, availability, and evidence-based interventions to reduce disparities. The existing measures and measure concepts that promote health equity were reviewed against the CQMC's measure selection principles. After eliminating 20 measures and measure concepts that addressed health at the population level or were index measures (i.e., assesses a topic using more than one data item),<sup>8</sup> a total of 11 measures and measure concepts remained at the clinician, facility, or plan level of analysis. Please note: Some measures identified are proprietary or may not have publicly available information at the time of distribution.

A description of each of these measures and measure concepts is categorized by domain below. Additional information about the 11 measures and measure concepts can be found in <u>Appendix B</u>.

- Enablers of Cultural Responsiveness
  - <u>NQF #1904</u> Clinician/Groups Cultural Competence Based on the CAHPS Cultural Competence Item Set (endorsement removed)
  - MUC2021-106 Hospital Commitment to Health Equity (measure concept under development)
- Access
  - NQF #1896 Language Services Measure Derived From Language Services Domain of the C-CAT (endorsement removed)
  - NQF #1824 L1A: Screening for Preferred Spoken Language for Healthcare (endorsement removed)
  - o Patient-Centered Medical Home Patients' Experiences
- Social Needs/Risks
  - o <u>Social Determinants of Health Screening</u>
  - MUC2021-134 Screen Positive Rate for Social Drivers of Health (measure concept under development)
  - <u>MUC2021-136</u> Screening for Social Drivers of Health (measure concept under development)

- Screening and Referral for Transportation Insecurity (measure under development from <u>CyncHealth</u>)
- Quality of Care
  - NQF #0520 Drug Education on All Medications Provided to Patient/Caregiver During Short-Term Episode of Care (endorsement removed)
- Equity Ecosystem
  - <u>A Minimum of 3% of Total Enrollment Shall be Served by Community Health Workers or</u> <u>Similar Support Workers</u> (page 354)

# Future Opportunities for the CQMC to Advance Health Equity

#### Measurement

To build on the foundational work of this report, the Health Equity Workgroup identified future opportunities for the CQMC to advance health equity measurement. First, this work illustrates that the CQMC core sets have the potential to advance high equity and that implementing the core set measures would result in the use of a high number of measures that are sensitive to identifying healthcare disparities. Achieving health equity will require the use of both measures that identify disparities as well as the use of measures that directly promote health equity.<sup>15</sup> In late 2022/early 2023, the Health Equity Workgroup will discuss further approaches to prioritize disparities -sensitive measures and health equity measures and test the approaches with two core set workgroups. Future work will consider expanding these prioritization approaches to all core sets.

Next, the Workgroup recommends encouraging the stratification of all existing measures in the core sets to help assess and address disparities, recognizing, however, that this will take time and will require action on the part of the measure stewards. The Workgroup also noted that since healthcare is moving towards team-based care and the entire team should be accountable for improving equity and addressing disparities, health equity measures should be incorporated into more than just the ACO/PCMH/PC core set, as specialists and other care providers can play an impactful role. Rather, the Workgroup recommends that the CQMC incorporate measures that directly assess the drivers of health equity (e.g., social needs assessment, access to care) into each core set, as this will best illustrate that equity is integral to primary care, specialty areas, and ACOs. The Workgroup noted that the development of a separate core set of only health equity measures could be considered, but the preference would be to incorporate health equity measures into all core sets.

A significant impediment to stratifying measures for disparities and directly measuring efforts to advance health equity is the lack of available data on patient social risks and needs. Improved interoperability is key to improving stratification and reporting. Due to the importance of collecting standardized data elements to support interoperability, the Workgroup recommends supporting and aligning with initiatives related to standardizing health equity-related electronic data elements. For example, the <u>Gravity Project</u> is a Health Level Seven International (HL7) Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR) Accelerator project with a multistakeholder public collaborative to develop, test, and validate standardized electronic SDOH data using identified coded data elements. Additionally, the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC) <u>United States Core Data for Interoperability (USCDI)</u> is facilitating the standardization of electronic data elements, including data elements related to race, ethnicity, preferred language, and sexual orientation and gender identity (SOGI) as well as SDOH-related data elements.<sup>12</sup> There is also a new initiative, <u>USCDI+</u>, to define and

advance interoperable data sets for specific use cases, such as the unique programmatic requirements for quality measurement for CMS or surveillance programs for the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).<sup>18</sup> Improved interoperability and transition to digital quality measures could allow the assessment of new measure concepts. These concepts could assist with the assessment of conditions that affect small numbers of patients and where current measurement may not be feasible.

The Workgroup also identified an opportunity for the CQMC to facilitate cross-organizational sharing of best practices for stratifying data to assess disparities and leveraging the data to address the disparities identified. For example, a learning collaborative could be established, either within CQMC or through partnerships, as a venue for organizations to highlight the approaches used and to share lessons learned from their experiences. Additionally, the CQMC can consider creating "how to" resources or implementation guides to assist organizations in these efforts. These resources would need to include strategies that could be implemented differently based on the organization's size, resources, and populations served. The audience for the resources would include clinicians, data analytics teams, office managers, or others who are able to stratify and evaluate their data.

The Workgroup began to highlight measurement gaps that should be prioritized to promote health equity in the CQMC. The Workgroup noted the insufficient number of existing health equity measures and measure concepts across all domains, particularly in the three domains most applicable to the CQMC: Social Needs/Risks, Quality of Care, and Equity Ecosystem. The Workgroup noted that focusing on the Equity Ecosystem domain for additional measure development would assist in capturing community- or population-level metrics that can inform the care provided at the patient level. Additionally, system-level measures to assess the availability of interpreters and translation services are needed since communication with patients is vital to improving care. There is also an opportunity for the CQMC to consider equity across a patient's journey and through transitions in care. For example, while the CQCM focuses on ambulatory measures at the clinician level of analysis, there are opportunities to consider creating measure sets focused on geriatrics, hospice, and palliative care. Additionally, the CQMC's current work could begin to address care transitions and promote equity as patients transition between primary care and specialists.

### Conclusion

Focusing on health equity is essential to identifying unwarranted variations in care, improving the quality and outcomes of the healthcare provided, and identifying and eliminating health disparities. The CQMC Health Equity Workgroup was established to ensure perspectives on health inequities and disparities are considered and elevated through the CQMC core sets, which should incorporate health equity throughout the patient journey, across care settings, and with social service systems. This report describes the approach used to identify disparities-sensitive measures within the CQMC core sets. The approach identified 137 out of 150 disparities-sensitive measures, with 19 measures meeting the priority clinical area or measurement area with disparities criterion and all three measure characteristics. Although 13 measures did not meet the criteria for disparities sensitivity using this approach, the Workgroup recognized that all measures likely have some level of disparity. Additional prioritization of the disparities-sensitive measures will be needed in future work. However, this report

demonstrates that the implementation of the CQMC core set measures is an important way to leverage value-based care to advance health equity.

The Workgroup also recognized that the efforts to advance equity must be focused to be successful. Therefore, the Workgroup identified three strategies to enable further identification and prioritization of disparities observed within measures that compose current CQMC core sets: (1) Determine which measures to prioritize and dedicate resources to; (2) Improve the ability to stratify measures by modifying measure specification and testing requirements; and (3) Stratify data to assess disparities and inform setting benchmarks.

This report also describes the 11 existing measures and measure concepts that promote health equity and align with the CQMC's measure selection principles. NQF categorized these measures and measure concepts into five domains for the CQMC that promote health equity measurement as identified by the Workgroup. While the CQMC considers measures for inclusion in the core sets based on its current specifications, an opportunity exists for clinical Workgroups or the Health Equity Workgroup to recommend updates to the specifications to ensure they provide actionable information about disparities to payers and providers.

Understanding this report is foundational to identifying and addressing disparities identified in the CQMC measures and advancing health equity within the CQMC. The Workgroup also identified future opportunities for the CQMC to advance health equity measurement. These opportunities are as follows:

- Encouraging stratification of all existing measures in the core sets to help assess and address disparities;
- Incorporating measures that directly assess the drivers of health equity (e.g., social needs assessment, access to care) into each core set;
- Supporting and aligning with initiatives related to standardizing health equity-related electronic data elements;
- Facilitating cross-organizational sharing of best practices to stratify data to assess disparities and to leverage the data to address disparities identified; and
- Closing identified measurement gaps to promote health equity in the CQMC.

The CQMC remains dedicated to advancing health equity and will continue to engage the Health Equity and clinical core set Workgroups to build upon and refine the activities described in the report during future work.

### References

- 1 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2030 Questions & Answers | health.gov.<u>https://health.gov/our-work/national-health-initiatives/healthy-people/healthy-people-2030/questions-answers</u>. Published April 6, 2022. Last accessed June 2022.
- 2 Braveman P, Arkin E, Orleans T, et al. What is Health Equity? Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. <u>https://www.rwif.org/en/library/research/2017/05/what-is-health-equity-.html</u>. Published May 2017. Last accessed June 2022.
- 3 Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Health equity | CMS. Health Equity. <u>https://www.cms.gov/pillar/health-equity</u>. Published April 20, 2022. Last accessed June 2022.
- 4 World Health Organization. Health Equity -- Global. Health Equity. <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/health-equity</u>. Last accessed June 2022.
- 5 Health Care Payment Learning & Action Network. Advancing Health Equity through APMs: Guidance for Equity-Centered Design and Implementation. <u>http://hcp-lan.org/workproducts/APM-Guidance/Advancing-Health-Equity-Through-APMs.pdf</u>. Published 2021. Last accessed June 2022.
- 6 World Health Organization. Health inequities and their causes. <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/facts-in-pictures/detail/health-inequities-and-their-causes</u>. Published February 22, 2018. Last accessed August 2022.
- 7 Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Disparities. <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/about/foundation-health-</u> <u>measures/Disparities#:~:text=Healthy%20People%202020%20defines%20a,%2C%20and%2For%20e</u> <u>nvironmental%20disadvantage</u>. Published February 6, 2022.
- 8 Ashley Crossman. How to Construct an Index for Research. ThoughtCo. <u>https://www.thoughtco.com/index-for-research-3026543</u>. Published 20 2019. Last accessed July 2022.
- 9 National Quality Forum. NQF: Commissioned Paper: Healthcare Disparities Measurement. <u>https://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2012/02/Commissioned Paper Healthcare Disparitiessed Paper Healthcare Disparitiessed Structure Structur</u>
- 10 Wyszewianski L. Access to Care: Remembering Old Lessons. *Health Serv Res.* 2002;37(6):1441-1443. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1464050/. Last accessed July 2022.
- 11 Federal Communications Commission. Other Resources. Federal Communications Commission. https://www.fcc.gov/health/sdoh/resources. Published January 19, 2022. Last accessed August 2022.
- 12 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Six Domains of Health Care Quality. <u>https://www.ahrq.gov/talkingquality/measures/six-domains.html</u>. Published November 2018. Last accessed July 2022.

- 13 Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Quality Measures | CMS. Quality Measures. <u>https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instruments/QualityMeasures</u>. Published April 14, 2022. Last accessed June 2022.
- National Quality Forum. NQF: Healthcare System Readiness Final Report. Healthcare System Readiness Final Report.
  <u>https://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2019/06/Healthcare System Readiness Final Report.</u> aspx. Published June 2019. Last accessed June 2022.
- 15 National Quality Forum. A Roadmap for Promoting Health Equity and Eliminating Disparities: The Four I's for Health Equity.; 2017. <u>https://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2017/09/A\_Roadmap\_for\_Promoting\_Health\_Equity\_a\_nd\_Eliminating\_Disparities\_The\_Four\_Ls\_for\_Health\_Equity.aspx</u>.
- 16 Office of the Assistant Secretary for (ASPE) Planning and Evaluation. Developing Health Equity Measures. ASPE. <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/developing-health-equity-measures</u>. Published May 19, 2021. Last accessed June 2022.
- 17 The Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. United States Core Data for Interoperability. <u>https://www.healthit.gov/isa/sites/isa/files/2021-07/USCDI-Version-2-July-2021-Final.pdf</u>. Published July 2021. Last accessed July 2022.
- 18 Ryan Argentieri, Elisabeth Myers, Steven Posnack, et al. Thinking Outside the Box: The USCDI+ Initiative. Health IT Buzz. <u>https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/thinking-outside-the-box-</u> <u>the-uscdi-initiative</u>. Published October 8, 2021. Last accessed July 2022.
- 19 CMS Office of Minority Health. CMS Framework for Health Equity | CMS. CMS Framework for Health Equity. <u>https://www.cms.gov/About-CMS/Agency-Information/OMH/equity-initiatives/framework-for-health-equity</u>. Published April 22, 2022. Last accessed June 2022.
- 20 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 2021 National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report. National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report. <u>https://www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/nhqrdr/nhqdr21/index.html</u>. Published January 2022. Last accessed June 2022.

### Appendix A: Disparities-Sensitive Measures Within Core Quality Measures Collaborative Core Sets

Below are the results of applying the approach for identifying disparities-sensitive measures in the CQMC core sets. The approach for identifying disparities-sensitive measures in the CQMC core sets is as follows: If the measure topic area assesses one of the identified priority clinical areas, OR it addresses an area with disparities, AND it meets at least one predefined characteristic, then the measure is disparities-sensitive. Based on <u>A Roadmap for Promoting Health Equity and Eliminating Disparities: The Four I's for Health Equity</u>, the measure characteristics being evaluated for this approach are the following: (1) The measure's denominator includes patients disproportionally affected by social risks compared to the general population; (2) The measure is specified for ambulatory settings; and (3) The measure is classified as an outcome measure.

#### Accountable Care Organizations, Patient-Centered Medical Homes, and Primary Care Core Set

The ACO/PCMH/PC core set includes 22 measures, and 19 were identified as being disparities-sensitive. Of the disparities-sensitive measures:

- three met one measure characteristic;
- 14 met two measure characteristics; and
- three met three measure characteristics.

Two measures were not identified as being disparities-sensitive as they did not focus on a priority clinical condition or measurement area associated with disparities:

- NQF #0052 Use of Imaging Studies for Low Back Pain
- NQF #0058 Avoidance of Antibiotic Treatment in Adults With Acute Bronchitis (AAB)

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>0059</u>	Comprehensive Diabetes Care: HbA1c Poor Control (>9.0%)	Diabetes	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>0018</u>	Controlling High Blood Pressure	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>1885</u>	Depression Response at 12 Months – Progress Towards Remission	Mental Health	Screening	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>1800</u>	Asthma Medication Ratio	Asthma	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0034</u>	Colorectal Cancer Screening	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0055</u>	Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Eye Exam	Diabetes	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>2372</u>	Breast Cancer Screening	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>N/A</u>	Kidney Health Evaluation for Patients With Diabetes	Diabetes	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0005</u>	CAHPS Clinician & Group Surveys (CG- CAHPS) Version 3.0 – Adult, Child	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>N/A</u>	Statin Therapy for Patients With Cardiovascular Disease (SPC)	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>N/A</u>	Statin Therapy for Patients With Diabetes (SPD)	Diabetes	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0032</u>	Cervical Cancer Screening	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>MIPSID</u> 443	Non-Recommended Cervical Cancer Screening in Adolescent Females	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>3059e /</u> <u>MIPS ID</u> <u>400</u>	One-Time Screening for Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) for Patients at Risk	-	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0028/0028e</u>	Preventive Care and Screening: Tobacco Use: Screening and Cessation Intervention	CVD	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>2152</u>	Preventive Care and Screening: Unhealthy Alcohol Use : Screening & Brief Counseling	Substance Use	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
0418/0418e (no longer endorsed)	Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for Depression and Follow- Up Plan	Mental Health	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0421/0421e</u>	Preventive Care and Screening: Body Mass Index (BMI) Screening and Follow- Up	-	Screening	No	Yes	No	1
<u>0097</u>	Medication Reconciliation	-	Communication- Sensitive Services	No	Yes	No	1
<u>1768</u>	Plan All-Cause Readmissions (PCR)	-	Readmission	No	No	Yes	1
<u>0058</u>	Avoidance of Antibiotic Treatment in Adults With Acute Bronchitis (AAB)	-	-	No	Yes	No	-
<u>0052</u>	Use of Imaging Studies for Low Back Pain	-	-	No	Yes	No	-

Cells marked by a dash (-) are intentionally left blank.

#### Cardiology Core Set

The Cardiology core set includes 27 measures. All measures in this core set were identified as disparities-sensitive, given the impact of CVD on underserved communities.<sup>19</sup> Of these measures:

- two met one measure characteristic;
- 20 met two measure characteristics; and
- five met three measure characteristics.

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>0018</u>	Controlling High Blood Pressure	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>2474</u>	Cardiac Tamponade and/or Pericardiocentesis Following Atrial Fibrillation Ablation	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>MIPSID</u> <u>377</u>	Functional Status Assessments for Congestive Heart Failure (MIPS ID 377)	CVD	Patient- Reported Outcome	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>0694</u>	Hospital Risk-Standardized Complication Rate Following Implantation of Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillator	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>MIPSID</u> <u>441</u>	Ischemic Vascular Disease (IVD) All-or- None Outcome Measure (Optimal Control) (MIPS ID 441)	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
0535	30-Day All-Cause Risk-Standardized Mortality Rate Following Percutaneous Coronary Intervention (PCI) for Patients Without ST Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction (STEMI) and Without Cardiogenic Shock	CVD	Care Coordination	Yes	No	Yes	2

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>0536</u>	30-Day All-Cause Risk-Standardized Mortality Rate Following Percutaneous Coronary Intervention (PCI) for Patients With ST Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction (STEMI) or Cardiogenic Shock	CVD	Care Coordination	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>1525</u>	Atrial Fibrillation and Atrial Flutter: Chronic Anticoagulation Therapy	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0066</u>	Chronic Stable Coronary Artery Disease: ACE Inhibitor or ARB Therapy – Diabetes or Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction (LVEF)	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0067</u>	Chronic Stable Coronary Artery Disease: Antiplatelet Therapy	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0070/0070e</u>	Chronic Stable Coronary Artery Disease: Beta-Blocker Therapy – Prior Myocardial Infarction (MI) or Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction (LVEF	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0081/</u> <u>0081e</u>	Heart Failure (HF): Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) Inhibitor or Angiotensin Receptor Blocker (ARB) Therapy for Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction (LVSD)	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0083/</u> 0083e	Heart Failure (HF): Beta Blocker Therapy for Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction (LVSD)	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0505</u>	Hospital 30-Day All-Cause Risk- Standardized Readmission Rate (RSRR) Following Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI) Hospitalization	CVD	Readmission	Yes	No	Yes	2

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>0230</u>	Hospital 30-Day, All-Cause, Risk- Standardized Mortality Rate (RSMR) Following Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI) Hospitalization for Patients 18 and Older	CVD	Care Coordination	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>0229</u>	Hospital 30-Day, All-Cause, Risk- Standardized Mortality Rate (RSMR) Following Heart Failure (HF) Hospitalization for Patients 18 and Older	CVD	Care Coordination	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>0330</u>	Hospital 30-Day, All-Cause, Risk- Standardized Readmission Rate (RSRR) Following Heart Failure Hospitalization	CVD	Readmission	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>2558</u>	Hospital 30-Day, All-Cause, Risk- Standardized Mortality Rate (RSMR) Following Coronary Artery Bypass Graft (CABG) Surgery	CVD	Care Coordination	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>2515</u>	Hospital 30-Day, All-Cause, Unplanned, Risk-Standardized Readmission Rate (RSRR) Following Coronary Artery Bypass Graft (CABG) Surgery	CVD	Readmission	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>2459</u>	In-Hospital Risk-Adjusted Rate of Bleeding Events for Patients Undergoing PCI	CVD	-	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>0733</u>	Operative Mortality Stratified by the Five STS-EACTS Mortality Categories	CVD	Care Coordination	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>2514</u>	Risk-Adjusted Coronary Artery Bypass Graft (CABG) Readmission Rate (30 Days)	CVD	Readmission	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>0119</u>	Risk-Adjusted Operative Mortality for CABG	CVD	Care Coordination	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>MIPSID</u> 438	Statin Therapy for the Prevention and Treatment of Cardiovascular Disease	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	No	2

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>0028/0028e</u>	Preventive Care and Screening: Tobacco Use: Screening and Cessation Intervention	CVD	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>2377</u>	Overall Defect-Free Care for AMI (Composite Measure)	CVD	-	Yes	No	No	1
<u>0964</u>	Therapy With Aspirin, P2Y12 inhibitor, and Statin at Discharge Following PCI in Eligible Patients	CVD	Transition	Yes	No	No	1

Cells marked by a dash (-) are intentionally left blank.

#### Gastroenterology Core Set

The Gastroenterology core set includes eight measures. All measures in this core set were identified as disparities-sensitive due to the impact of colon cancer on underserved populations<sup>19</sup> and the importance of screening for related conditions. Of these measures:

- four met one measure characteristic;
- three met two measure characteristics; and
- one met three measure characteristics.

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>MIPSID</u> 343	Screening Colonoscopy Adenoma Detection Rate Measure	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>MIPSID</u> 439	Age-Appropriate Screening Colonoscopy	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>3059e /</u> <u>MIPS ID</u> <u>400</u>	One-Time Screening for Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) for Patients at Risk	-	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>MIPSID</u> 401	Screening for Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) in Patients With Hepatitis C Cirrhosis	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0658</u>	Endoscopy/Polyp Surveillance: Appropriate Follow-Up Interval for Normal Colonoscopy in Average Risk Patients	Cancer	Care Coordination	No	Yes	No	1
0659 (No longer NQF endorsed)	Endoscopy/Polyp Surveillance: Colonoscopy Interval for Patients With a History of Adenomatous Polyps – Avoidance of Inappropriate Use	Cancer	Care Coordination	No	Yes	No	1
<u>MIPSID</u> 275	Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD): Assessment of Hepatitis B Virus (HBV) Status Before Initiating Anti-TNF (Tumor Necrosis Factor) Therapy	-	Screening	No	Yes	No	1

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities		Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>MIPSID</u> 271	Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD): Preventative Care: Corticosteroid Related latrogenic Injury– Bone Loss Assessment	-	Screening	No	Yes	No	1

Cells marked by a dash (-) are intentionally left blank.

#### HIV/Hepatitis C Core Set

The HIV and Hepatitis C core set includes eight measures. All eight measures were identified as disparities -sensitive, primarily because HIV is a priority clinical area. 19,20 Of these measures:

- zero met one measure characteristic;
- seven met two measure characteristics; and
- one met three measure characteristics.

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>2082 /</u> <u>3210e</u>	HIV Viral Load Suppression	HIV	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>MIPSID</u> 475	HIV Screening	HIV	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>2080</u>	Gap in HIV Medical Visits	HIV	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>2079 /</u> <u>3209e</u>	HIV Medical Visit Frequency	HIV	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0405</u>	HIV/AIDS: Pneumocystis jiroveci Pneumonia (PCP) Prophylaxis	HIV	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0409</u>	HIV/AIDS: Sexually Transmitted Diseases – Screening for Chlamydia, Gonorrhea, and Syphilis	HIV	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>3059e /</u> <u>MIPS ID</u> <u>400</u>	One-Time Screening for Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) for Patients at Risk	-	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>MIPSID</u> 401	Screening for Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) in Patients With Hepatitis C Cirrhosis	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2

Cells marked by a dash (-) are intentionally left blank.

#### Medical Oncology Core Set

The Medical Oncology core set includes 17 measures, and 16 were identified as being disparities-sensitive, given the impact of cancer on underserved populations.<sup>8,9</sup> Of the disparities-sensitive measures:

- five met one measure characteristic;
- seven met two measure characteristics; and
- four met three measure characteristics.

One measure, NQF #0223 Adjuvant Chemotherapy Is Considered or Administered Within 4 Months (120 Days) of Diagnosis to Patients Under the Age of 80 With AJCC III (Lymph Node Positive) Colon Cancer, was not identified as being disparities-sensitive. While the measure does focus on a priority clinical area (i.e., cancer), it does not meet any of the measure characteristic criteria.

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>3490</u>	Admission and Emergency Department (ED) Visits for Patients Receiving Outpatient Chemotherapy	Cancer	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>0384 /</u> <u>0384e</u>	Oncology: Pain Intensity Quantified – Medical Oncology and Radiation Oncology	Cancer	Patient- Reported Outcome	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>OCM-6</u>	Patient-Reported Experience of Care	Cancer	Patient- Reported Outcome	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>0211</u>	Proportion of Patients Who Died From Cancer With More Than One Emergency Room Visit in the Last 30 Days of Life	Cancer	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>1860</u>	Patients With Metastatic Colorectal Cancer and KRAS Gene Mutation-Spared Treatment With Anti-Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Monoclonal Antibodies	Cancer	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0216</u>	Proportion of Patients Who Died From Cancer Admitted to Hospice for Less Than Three Days	Cancer	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	No	2

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>0213</u>	Proportion of Patients Who Died From Cancer Admitted to the ICU in the Last 30 Days of Life	Cancer	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0215</u>	Proportion of Patients Who Died From Cancer Not Admitted to Hospice	Cancer	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0210</u>	Proportion of Patients Who Died From Cancer Receiving Chemotherapy in the Last 14 Days of Life	Cancer	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>1858</u>	Trastuzumab Administered to Patients With AJCC Stage I (T1c) – III and Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) Positive Breast Cancer Who Receive Adjuvant Chemotherapy	Cancer	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
0418/0418e (no longer endorsed)	Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for Depression and Follow-Up Plan	Mental Health	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>3188</u>	30-Day Unplanned Readmissions for Cancer Patients	Cancer	Readmission	No	No	Yes	1
<u>2651</u>	CAHPS <sup>®</sup> Hospice Survey (Experience With Care)	Cancer	Patient Reported Outcome	No	No	Yes	1
<u>0559</u>	Combination Chemotherapy Is Considered or Administered Within Four Months (120 days) of Diagnosis for Women Under 70 With AJCCT1c, or Stage II or III Hormone Receptor Negative Breast Cancer	Cancer	-	Yes	No	No	1
<u>1859</u>	KRAS Gene Mutation Testing Performed for Patients With Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Who Receive Anti-Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Monoclonal Antibody Therapy	Cancer	-	No	Yes	No	1
NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
--------------------------------------	---	-----------------------------------	--	--	---	--	-----------------------------------
<u>0389 /</u> <u>0389e</u>	Prostate Cancer: Avoidance of Overuse of Bone Scan for Staging Low-Risk Prostate Cancer Patients	Cancer	-	No	Yes	No	1
0223	Adjuvant Chemotherapy Is Considered or Administered Within Four Months (120 days) of Diagnosis to Patients Under the Age of 80 With AJCC III (Lymph Node Positive) Colon Cancer	Cancer	-	No	No	No	-

#### Obstetrics and Gynecology Core Set

The Obstetrics and Gynecology core set includes 19 measures, and 18 measures were identified as being disparities-sensitive. Of the disparities-sensitive measures:

- three met one measure characteristic;
- 12 met two measure characteristics; and
- three met three measure characteristics.

One measure, NQF #3475e Appropriate Use of DXA Scans in Women Under 65 Years Who Do Not Meet the Risk Factor Profile for Osteoporotic Fracture, does not focus on a priority clinical condition or measurement area associated with disparities.

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>2902</u>	Contraceptive Care – Postpartum	-	Care with a High Degree of Discretion	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>3543</u>	Person-Centered Contraceptive Counseling (PCCC) Measure	-	Care with a High Degree of Discretion	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>N/A</u>	Postpartum Depression Screening and Follow-Up (PDS)	Mental Health	Screening	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>2372</u>	Breast Cancer Screening	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0032</u>	Cervical Cancer Screening	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0033</u>	Chlamydia Screening in Women	-	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>MIPSID</u> 475	HIV Screening	HIV	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
MIPSID 443	Non-recommended Cervical Cancer Screening in Adolescent Females	Cancer	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
0418/0418e (no longer endorsed)	Preventative Care and Screening: Screening for Clinical Depression and Follow-Up Plan	Mental Health	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>2904</u>	Contraceptive Care – Access to LARC	-	Care with a High Degree of Discretion	Yes	Yes	No	2
MIPSID 336	Maternity Care: Postpartum Follow-Up and Care Coordination	Maternal Health	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0471</u>	PC-02 Cesarean Section	Maternal Health	-	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>3484</u>	Prenatal Immunization Status <sup>+</sup>	Maternal Health	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>MIPSID</u> 433	Proportion of Patients Sustaining a Bowel Injury at the Time of Any Pelvic Organ Prolapse Repair	Maternal Health	-	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>0716</u>	Unexpected Complications in Term Newborns	Infant Health	-	Yes	No	Yes	2
<u>0470</u>	Incidence of Episiotomy	Maternal Health	-	Yes	No	No	1
<u>0469/0469e</u>	PC-01 Elective Delivery (Patients With Elective Vaginal Deliveries or Elective Cesarean)	Maternal Health	-	Yes	No	No	1
<u>0480/0480e</u>	PC-05 Exclusive Breast Milk Feeding and the Subset Measure	Maternal Health	-	Yes	No	No	1
<u>3475e</u>	Appropriate Use of DXA Scans in Women Under 65 Years Who Do Not Meet the Risk Factor Profile for Osteoporotic Fracture	-	-	Yes	Yes	No	-

#### Orthopedics Core Set

The Orthopedics core set includes 20 measures, and 17 measures were identified as being disparities-sensitive. Of the disparities-sensitive measures:

- two met one measure characteristic;
- 15 met two measure characteristics; and
- zero met three measure characteristics.

Three measures were not identified as being disparities-sensitive because they were not focused on a priority clinical condition or measurement area associated with disparities:

- NQF #3493 Risk-Standardized Complication Rate (RSCR) Following Elective Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty (THA) and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA) for Merit-Based Incentive Payment System (MIPS) Eligible Clinicians and Eligible Clinician Groups
- NQF #1150 Hospital-Level Risk-Standardized Complication Rate (RSCR) Following Elective Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty (THA) and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA)
- NQF #1551 Hospital-Level 30-Day, All-Cause Risk-Standardized Readmission Rate (RSRR) Following Elective Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty (THA) and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA).

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>MIPSID</u> 459	Back Pain After Lumbar Discectomy/Laminectomy	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>MIPSID</u> 460	Back Pain After Lumbar Fusion	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>MIPSID</u> 471	Functional Status After Lumbar Discectomy/Laminectomy	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>2643</u>	Functional Status After Lumbar Fusion	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>2653</u>	Functional Status After Primary Total Knee Replacement	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>MIPSID</u> <u>376</u>	Functional Status Assessment for Total Hip Replacement (eCQM)	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>MIPSID</u> <u>375</u>	Functional Status Assessment for Total Knee Replacement (eCQM)	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>0425</u>	Functional Status Change for Patients With Low Back Impairments	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>3461</u>	Functional Status Change for Patients With Neck Impairments	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>3470</u>	Hospital Visits After Orthopedic Ambulatory Surgical Center Procedures	-	Transition	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>2958</u>	Informed, Patient-Centered (IPC) Hip and Knee Replacement Surgery	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>MIPSID</u> <u>461</u>	Leg Pain After Lumbar Discectomy/Laminotomy	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>MIPSID</u> 473	Leg Pain After Lumbar Fusion	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>1741</u>	Patient Experience With Surgical Care Based on the Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS®) Surgical Care Survey	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>2962</u>	Shared Decision-Making Process	-	Communication- Sensitive Services	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>3559</u>	Hospital-Level, Risk-Standardized Improvement Rate in Patient-Reported Outcomes Following Elective Primary Total Hip and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (THA/TKA)	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	No	Yes	1
<u>MIPSID</u> 355	Unplanned Reoperation Within the 30- Day Postoperative Period	-	Care Coordination	No	No	Yes	1
<u>1551</u>	Hospital-Level 30-Day, All-Cause Risk- Standardized Readmission Rate (RSRR) Following Elective Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty (THA) and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA)	-	-	No	No	Yes	-
<u>1550</u>	Hospital-Level Risk-Standardized Complication Rate (RSCR) Following Elective Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty (THA) and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA)	-	-	No	No	Yes	-
<u>3493</u>	Risk-Standardized Complication Rate (RSCR) Following Elective Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty (THA) and/or Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA) for Merit-Based Incentive Payment System (MIPS) Eligible Clinicians and Eligible Clinician Groups	-	-	No	No	Yes	-

#### Pediatrics Core Set

The Pediatrics core set includes 12 measures, and six measures were identified as being disparities-sensitive. Of the disparities-sensitive measures:

- two met one measure characteristic;
- four met two measure characteristics; and
- zero met three measure characteristics.

Six measures were not identified as being disparities-sensitive. Five measures did not focus on a priority clinical condition or measurement area associated with disparities:

- NQF #0038 Childhood Immunization Status (CIS)
- NQF #1407 Immunizations for Adolescents (IMA)
- NQF #0002 Appropriate Testing for Children With Pharyngitis (CWP) (no longer endorsed)
- NQF #0069 Appropriate Treatment for Children With Upper Respiratory Infection (URI)
- NQF #2811e Acute Otitis Media Appropriate First-Line Antibiotics

Additionally, one measure, NQF #1448 *Developmental Screening in the First Three Years of Life* (no longer endorsed), did focus on a measurement area associated with disparities (screening) but did not meet any of the measure characteristic criteria.

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>1800</u>	Asthma Medication Ratio	Asthma	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0005</u>	CAHPS Clinician & Group Surveys (CG- CAHPS)-Adult, Child	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>0033</u>	Chlamydia Screening for Women	-	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0418/0418e</u>	Preventative Care and Screening:	Mental	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>(no longer</u> <u>endorsed)</u>	Screening for Clinical Depression and Follow-Up Plan	Health					

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>0024</u>	Weight Assessment and Counseling for Nutrition and Physical Activity for Children/Adolescents (WCC-CH)	-	Communication- Sensitive Services	No	Yes	No	1
<u>1516</u>	Well-Child Visits in the Third, Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Years of Life (W34)	-	Social Determinant Dependent	No	Yes	No	1
<u>2811e</u>	Acute Otitis Media – Appropriate First- Line Antibiotics	-	-	No	Yes	No	-
0002 (no longer endorsed)	Appropriate Testing for Children With Pharyngitis (CWP)	-	-	No	Yes	No	-
<u>0069</u>	Appropriate Treatment for Children With Upper Respiratory Infection (URI)	-	-	No	Yes	No	-
<u>0038</u>	Childhood Immunization Status (CIS)	-	-	No	Yes	No	-
<u>1448 (no</u> longer endorsed)	Developmental Screening in the First Three Years of Life	-	Screening	No	No	No	-
<u>1407</u>	Immunizations for Adolescents (IMA)	-	-	No	Yes	No	-

#### Neurology Core Set

The Neurology core set includes five measures, and all measures within this core set were identified as being disparities-sensitive. Of the disparities-sensitive measures:

- two met one measure characteristic;
- three met two measure characteristics; and
- zero met three measure characteristics.

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>0005</u>	CAHPS Clinician & Group Surveys (CG- CAHPS)	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>2624</u>	Functional Outcome Assessment	-	Patient Reported Outcome	No	Yes	Yes	2
<u>MIPSID</u> <u>187</u>	Stroke and Stroke Rehabilitation: Thrombolytic Therapy (MIPS ID 187)	CVD	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0097</u>	Medication Reconciliation	-	Communication- Sensitive services	No	Yes	No	1
<u>0419e</u>	Documentation of Current Medications in the Medical Record	-	Communication- Sensitive services	No	Yes	No	1

#### Behavioral Health Core Set

The Behavioral Health core set includes 12 measures, and all measures within this core set were identified as being disparities-sensitive, given the impact of behavioral and mental health within underserved communities. Of these measures:

- two met one measure characteristic;
- eight met two measure characteristics; and
- two met three measure characteristics.

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
<u>1884</u>	Depression Response at Six Months – Progress Towards Remission	Mental Health	Screening	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>1885</u>	Depression Response at 12 Months – Progress Towards Remission	Mental Health	Screening	Yes	Yes	Yes	3
<u>1879</u>	Adherence to Antipsychotic Medications for Individuals With Schizophrenia	Mental Health	Communication- Sensitive Services	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>3489</u>	Follow-Up After Emergency Department Visit for Mental Illness	Mental Health	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0576</u>	Follow-Up After Hospitalization for Mental Illness (FUH)	Mental Health	Care Coordination	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>2800</u>	Metabolic Monitoring for Children and Adolescents on Antipsychotics	Mental Health	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>N/A</u>	Pharmacotherapy for Opioid Use Disorder (POD)	Substance Use	-	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>0028/0028e</u>	Preventive Care and Screening: Tobacco Use: Screening and Cessation Intervention	CVD	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>2152</u>	Preventive Care and Screening: Unhealthy Alcohol Use : Screening & Brief Counseling	Substance Use	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2

NQF Number (links to specs)	Measure Title	Priority Clinical Condition	Measurement Area Associated With Disparities	Measure Characteristic 1: Social Risk Factors	Measure Characteristic 2: Ambulatory Settings	Measure Characteristic 3: Outcome Measure	Measure Characteristics Met
0418/0418e (no longer endorsed)	Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for Depression and Follow- Up Plan	Mental Health	Screening	Yes	Yes	No	2
<u>1932</u>	Diabetes Screening for People With Schizophrenia or Bipolar Disorder Who Are Using Antipsychotic Medications (SSD)	Mental Health	Screening	Yes	No	No	1
<u>0108</u>	Follow-Up Care for Children Prescribed ADHD Medication (ADD)	Mental Health	Care Coordination	No	Yes	No	1

### Appendix B: Measures and Measure Concepts That Promote Health Equity

The identification number, measure title, National Quality Forum (NQF) endorsement status, measure description, level of analysis, and domain are provided for 11 existing measures and measure concepts that promote health equity at the clinician, facility, or plan level of analysis. Please note: Some measures and measure concepts identified are proprietary or may not have publicly available information at the time of publication.

Identification Number	Measure Title	NQF Endorsement Status	Measure Description	Level of Analysis	Domain
<u>NQF#1904</u>	Clinician/Group's Cultural Competence Based on the CAHPS® Cultural Competence Item Set	Endorsement Removed	These measures are based on the CAHPS Cultural Competence Item Set, a set of supplemental items for the CAHPS Clinician/Group Survey.	Clinician: Group/Practice, Clinician: Individual	Enablers of Cultural Responsiveness
<u>MUC2021-</u> <u>106</u>	Hospital Commitment to Health Equity	Not Endorsed*	Among Medicare beneficiaries, racial and ethnic minority individuals, individuals with limited English proficiency or disabilities often receive lower quality of care and higher rates of readmission and complications than beneficiaries without these characteristics. Strong and consistent hospital leadership can be instrumental in setting specific, measurable, and attainable goals to advance equity priorities and improve care for all beneficiaries. This includes promoting an organizational culture of equity through equity- focused leadership, commitment to robust demographic data collection, and active review of disparities in key quality outcomes, which are assessed in this measure.	Facility	Enablers of Cultural Responsiveness
<u>NQF#1896</u>	Language Services Measure Derived From Language Services Domain of the C-CAT	Endorsement Removed	0-100 measure of language services related to patient- centered communication, derived from items on the staff and patient surveys of the Communication Climate Assessment Toolkit (C- CAT)	Facility	Access

Identification Number	Measure Title	NQF Endorsement Status	Measure Description	Level of Analysis	Domain
<u>NQF#1824</u>	L1A: Screening for Preferred Spoken Language for Healthcare	Endorsement Removed	This measure is used to assess the percent of patient visits and admissions where preferred spoken language for healthcare is screened and recorded. Access to and availability of patient language preference is critical for providers in planning care. This measure provides information on the extent to which patients are asked about the language they prefer to receive care in and the extent to which this information is being recorded.	Clinician: Group/Practice, Facility	Access
<u>Not</u> applicable (Page 28)	Patient-Centered Medical Home Patients' Experiences	Not Endorsed*	Percentage of parents or guardians who reported how often they were able to get the care their child needed from their child's provider's office during evenings, weekends, or holidays	Clinical Practice or Public Health Sites	Access
<u>Not</u> applicable	Social Determinants of Health Screening	Not Endorsed*	One Social Determinants of Health screening during the episode duration with G9919 or G9920 Procedure Code claims, including ICD-10Z-codes when relevant to those determinant areas as defined by Social Determinants Health	Plan Level	Social Needs/Risks
<u>MUC2021-</u> <u>134</u>	Screen Positive Rate for Social Drivers of Health	Not Endorsed*	Percent of beneficiaries 18 years and older who screen positive for food insecurity, housing instability, transportation problems, utility help needs, or interpersonal safety.	Clinician; Group; Facility; Other: Beneficiary, Population	Social Needs/Risks
<u>MUC2021-</u> <u>136</u>	Screening for Social Drivers of Health	Not Endorsed*	Percent of beneficiaries 18 years and older screened for food insecurity, housing instability, transportation problems, utility help needs, and interpersonal safety.	Clinician; Group; Facility; Other: Beneficiary, Population	Social Needs/Risk

Identification Number	Measure Title	NQF Endorsement Status	Measure Description	Level of Analysis	Domain
Not applicable – Measure under development by <u>CyncHealth</u>	Screening and Referral for Transportation Insecurity	Not Endorsed*	Percentage of patients aged 18 years and older who were screened for transportation insecurity within the measurement period AND/OR received a referral or intervention to address transportation insecurity. Three rates reported: a. Percentage of patients aged 18 years and older who were screened for transportation insecurity within the measurement period. b. Percentage of patients aged 18 years and older who received a referral or intervention for transportation insecurity. c. Patients who were screened for transportation insecurity AND who received a referral or intervention to address transportation insecurity during the measurement period.	Individual Practitioner	Social Needs/Risks
<u>NQF #0520</u>	Drug Education on All Medications Provided to Patient/Caregiver During Short-Term Episodes of Care	Endorsement Removed	Percentage of short-term home health episodes of care during which patient/caregiver was instructed on how to monitor the effectiveness of drug therapy, how to recognize potential adverse effects, and how and when to report problems	Facility	Quality of Care
Not applicable (Page 354)	A Minimum of Three Percent of Total Enrollment Shall Be Served by Community Health Workers or Similar Support Workers	Not Endorsed*	A minimum of three percent (3%) of total enrollment shall be served by Community Health Workers (CHWs), Community Health Representatives (CHRs) and Certified Peer Support Workers (CPSWs) for activities such as Care Coordination activities, home visiting, health education, health literacy, translation and/or community supports linkages [There will be annual increases to the percentage targets to be determined by the Human Services Department.]	Plan Level	Equity Ecosystem

\*Not Endorsed: The measure may have been submitted to NQF for endorsement evaluation and did not pass, or the measure was never submitted to NQF for endorsement evaluation.

### Appendix C: Broadly Applicable Measures

One potential approach to further prioritize disparities-sensitive measures is to examine measures that are broadly applicable. A broadly applicable measure is defined as:

- used in multiple CQMC core sets, or
- previously identified in CQMC work as broadly applicable, including:
  - o cross-cutting measures identified in a 2022 <u>Analysis of Measurement Gap Areas and Measure Alignment</u>
  - measures identified by the 2021 CQMC Cross-Cutting Workgroup

Of the 137 identified disparities-sensitive measures from the Workgroup's original approach, 23 meet the criteria to be considered broadly applicable. These measures are provided below, along with a summary of their ability to meet the different criteria for being considered broadly applicable. The number of disparities-sensitive measure characteristics met by each measure is also provided.

Identification Number	Measure Title	Alignment Across CQMC Core Sets	Number of Core Sets in Which the Measure is Included	Identified as Cross- Cutting in Previous CQMC Efforts	Disparities-Sensitive Measure Characteristics Met
<u>NQF#0018</u>	Controlling High Blood Pressure	Accountable Care Organizations, Patient- Centered Medical Homes, and Primary Care (ACO/PCMH/PC), Cardiology	2	Yes	3
<u>NQF#1885</u>	Depression Response at Twelve Months- Progress Towards Remission	ACO/PCMH/PC, Behavioral Health	2	-	3
NQF #0418/#0418e (no longer endorsed)	Preventative Care and Screening: Screening for Clinical Depression and Follow-up Plan	Medical Oncology, Obstetrics/Gynecology (OB/GYN), ACO/PCMH/PC, Behavioral Health, Pediatrics	5	Yes	2

Identification Number	Measure Title	Alignment Across CQMC Core Sets	Number of Core Sets in Which the Measure is Included	Identified as Cross- Cutting in Previous CQMC Efforts	Disparities-Sensitive Measure Characteristics Met
<u>NQF#0005</u>	CAHPS Clinician & Group Surveys (CG- CAHPS) Version 3.0 - Adult, Child	Pediatrics, Neurology, ACO/PCMH/PC	3	Yes	2
<u>NQF</u> <u>#0028/#0028e</u>	Preventive Care and Screening: Tobacco Use: Screening and Cessation Intervention	Cardiology, Behavioral Health, ACO/PCMH/PC	3	Yes	2
NQF #3059e / MIPS ID 400	One-Time Screening for Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) for Patients at Risk	Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)/Hepatitis C (Hep C), Gastroenterology, ACO/PCMH/PC	3	-	2
<u>NQF#2372</u>	Breast Cancer Screening	ACO/PCMH/PC, OB/GYN	2	Yes	2
<u>NQF#0032</u>	Cervical Cancer Screening	ACO/PCMH/PC, OB/GYN	2	Yes	2
MIPS ID 475	HIV Screening	OB/GYN, HIV/Hep C	2	Yes	2

Identification Number	Measure Title	Alignment Across CQMC Core Sets	Number of Core Sets in Which the Measure is Included	Identified as Cross- Cutting in Previous CQMC Efforts	Disparities-Sensitive Measure Characteristics Met
<u>MIPS ID 443</u>	Non-recommended Cervical Cancer Screening in Adolescent Females	ACO/PCMH/PC, OB/GYN	2	Yes	2
<u>NQF#2152</u>	Preventive Care and Screening: Unhealthy Alcohol Use: Screening & Brief Counseling	Behavioral Health, ACO/PCMH/PC	2	Yes	2
<u>NQF#1800</u>	Asthma Medication Ratio	ACO/PCMH/PC, Pediatrics	2	-	2
<u>NQF#0033</u>	Chlamydia Screening in Women	Pediatrics, OB/GYN	2	-	2
<u>MIPSID 401</u>	Screening for Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) in Patients with Hepatitis C Cirrhosis	Gastroenterology, HIV/Hep C	2	-	2
<u>NQF#0034</u>	Colorectal Cancer Screening	ACO/PCMH/PC Only	1	Yes	2

Identification Number	Measure Title	Alignment Across CQMC Core Sets	Number of Core Sets in Which the Measure is Included	Identified as Cross- Cutting in Previous CQMC Efforts	Disparities-Sensitive Measure Characteristics Met
<u>NQF#2624</u>	Functional Outcome Assessment	Neurology Only	1	Yes	2
<u>NQF#1741</u>	Patient Experience with Surgical Care Based on the Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS®) Surgical Care Survey	Orthopedics only	1	Yes	2
<u>NQF#2962</u>	Shared Decision- Making Process	Orthopedics only	1	Yes	2
<u>NQF#0097</u>	Medication Reconciliation	ACO/PCMH/PC, Neurology	2	Yes	1
<u>NQF#2651</u>	CAHPS <sup>®</sup> Hospice Survey (experience with care)	Medical Oncology only	1	Yes	1
<u>NQF#0419e</u>	Documentation of Current Medications in the Medical Record	Neurology Only	1	Yes	1

Identification Number	Measure Title	Alignment Across CQMC Core Sets	Number of Core Sets in Which the Measure is Included	Identified as Cross- Cutting in Previous CQMC Efforts	Disparities-Sensitive Measure Characteristics Met
<u>NQF</u> <u>#0421/#0421e</u>	Preventive Care and Screening: Body Mass Index (BMI) Screening and Follow-Up	ACO/PCMH/PC Only	1	Yes	1
<u>NQF#1768</u>	Plan All-Cause Readmissions (PCR)	ACO/PCMH/PC Only	1	Yes	1

### Appendix D: Public Comments and Workgroup Responses

The draft 2022 CQMC Health Equity Final Report was posted for public comment from August 11, 2022, to August 24, 2022. During the commenting period, NQF received 8 comments from 3 organizations and individuals. The comments below are grouped by question prompt. Public comments are presented as they were submitted to NQF and have not been edited, except for minor updates to spacing, spelling, and punctuation. These comments and proposed responses were discussed during the CQMC Health Equity Workgroup web meeting on August 29, 2022.

## Question 1: Please provide any comments on the identified disparities-sensitive measures within the CQMC core sets.

#### Jessica Kwon, Memorial Care Medical Centers COMMENT

The approach to have priority conditions as a primary driver to identifying disparities-sensitive measures is appreciated. Particularly since population health initiatives, which may disproportionately affect specific ethnic populations, (e.g., gastric cancers being one of this most prevalent for Asian populations or lupus and sickle cell anemia) are not regularly included in preventative health. However, it is telling there are no gastric cancer screenings or sickle cell anemia measures in the CQMC core sets, as you noted. This is resulting in a very limited ability to choose appropriate disparities-sensitive measures. In contrast, there are several colon cancer screening measures which were ultimately included, although not in the priority conditions list. Using the priority clinical conditions list to drive creation of appropriate measure sets that may be adopted will improve population health and reduce disparity in healthcare outcomes.

#### WORKGROUP RESPONSE

Thank you for providing this comment and for providing additional context on conditions that may disproportionately affect specific populations. While the charge of the CQMC Health Equity Workgroup is to examine topics of health equity as they apply to CQMC initiatives, the Workgroup recognizes that there are limitations to only identifying disparities-sensitive measures within the existing CQMC core sets. We appreciate the suggestion to reference the priority conditions list when creating and maintaining the core sets. CQMC Workgroups iteratively review the core sets for needed updates, and there may be future opportunities for the CQMC Health Equity Workgroup to examine measures addressing these conditions based on those updates.

### Aparna Gupta, National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization (NHPCO)

#### COMMENT

NHPCO recommends the disparities-sensitive measures be based on either a consensus or evidence focused definition of "disparity." Any measures must ensure to include patient engagement, which could be measured by currently available proxy measures like patient-initiated utilization of services (visits completed) or medication adherence, or development of patient reported measure set.

#### WORKGROUP RESPONSE

Thank you for this comment. The 2022 CQMC Health Equity report considers a disparity as "a particular type of health difference that is closely linked with social, economic, and/or environmental disadvantages" as defined in *Healthy People 2020* by the U.S. Office of Disease Prevention and Health

<u>Promotion</u>. The approach to identify measures as sensitive to these disparities combines recommendations on priority topic areas and known areas of disparities from published literature with measure characteristics identified by a technical expert panel in the 2017 NQF report <u>A Roadmap for</u> <u>Promoting Health Equity and Eliminating Disparities: The Four I's for Health Equity</u>. The development of a patient-reported measure set is outside of the scope of the CQMC Health Equity Workgroup, but the Workgroup agrees that it is important to advocate for the patient voice to be included in all health equity efforts, and additional language has been added to the report to emphasize this need.

#### Michelle Cohen

#### COMMENT

The following is needed in Pennsylvania:

1. Quality management, training, and corrective actions for common law employers, surrogates, guardians, employed family members (all of which can be family members), and the participant, just like providers. All matters, including fraud, are to be remediated civilly as required by federal and state laws to be in regulatory compliance.

2. Third Party billing is a requirement under the law. Many families have primary insurance for their family members. It is required that the state authorize and process Third Party billing because it is a requirement. §1902(a)(25) Requires that a State plan for medical assistance must provide that: States or local agencies take all reasonable measures to identify legally liable third parties including: Collection of health insurance information; Submission of a plan for pursuing claims against third parties; States pursue reimbursement from third parties; Mandatory pay and chase methods to be utilized in certain situations.

3. CLEs should be able to easily establish new service codes if needed services do not have established codes (e.g., 3:1 support, 4:1 support, mandatory training, etc.) to provide medically necessary services to the participant without delay or harm.

4. Participants were arrested without notice and denied Administrative Law Process from ODP or DHS as per the Memorandum of Understanding of Denials of requested Services for the participant. DHS does not allow families to file for Fair Hearing instead relies on the AE or SCO to send the Fair Hearing Request to Bureau of Hearing and Appeals (BHA). Families are being denied Due Process because SCO and DHS refuse the Fair Hearing Request from family members. Families and Participants must be able to submit Fair Hearing requests directly. An independent review panel should be put in place to oversee and protect families from unlawful policies and complaints.

5. Family members who had become Common Law Employers (CLEs) who have been terminated from the program without notice, remediation or the required fair hearing process are being misclassified by the OIG, OAG MCFU, as Personal Care Assistants in the National Program Identifier (NPI) for over 236 years expulsion even though there is mention of a 5-year maximum exclusion. CLEs do not get paid therefore they cannot be classified as a worker. The Public requested the policies and procedures for the Medicaid Fraud Unit to investigate any identified error, including timesheets and Job Descriptions. The public needs to be notified of the difference between families providing services and being criminalized while the enrolled providers receive audits, remediation, and sanctions

#### WORKGROUP RESPONSE

While these topics fall outside the scope of this report, thank you for sharing these comments on common law employers in Pennsylvania.

## Question 2: Please provide any comments on the strategies for enabling further identification and prioritization of disparities observed in CQMC core set measures.

Aparna Gupta, National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization (NHPCO)

#### COMMENT

NHPCO supports all three strategies recommended by the Workgroup and the focus on an iterative approach. As more data are available on disparities, the strategies to addressing disparities will need to evolve. With the multiple iterations proposed by the Workgroup, the system will continue to improve and become more equitable.

#### WORKGROUP RESPONSE

Thank you for providing this comment and for your support of the iterative approach to examine strategies for identifying and prioritizing disparities in CQMC core set measures.

### Erin O'Rourke, America's Health Insurance Plans (AHIP) *COMMENT*

AHIP appreciates the CQMC Health Equity Workgroup's efforts to review the current core measures to validate that the CQMC core measure sets are an important tool in advancing health equity and identifying health care disparities. The finding that 136 out of 150 core measures are disparities sensitive is encouraging and underscores the value of the core sets. However, organizations will not have the resources to implement, stratify, and act a large set of measures at one time. Making progress toward equity will require meaningful, sustainable, incremental progress as well as a measurement and quality improvement strategy to support such efforts. Prioritizing a smaller set of measures to stratify will enable stakeholders to focus their equity efforts and ensure equity measurement is feasible. We appreciate the Workgroup's initial outline of potential strategies to identify priority measures and encourage the CQMC to use this as a foundation to identify an initial list of 10-15 of the core measures that could implemented in the short term to address disparities. While we appreciate the Workgroup's consideration of the role of digital quality measures to advance equity measurement and understanding of potential disparities, we believe prioritizing a set of measures that is possible to implement now and uses feasible data sources would be an important step.

AHIP has identified quality as a crucial aspect of our framework to promote health equity. Our work centers on using stratified measures to identify disparities, reducing disparities in quality, and ensuring providers use evidence-based interventions to reduce disparities. In furtherance of this goal AHIP has convened a Health Equity Measures for Value-Based Care workgroup to explore ways to leverage performance measurement to promote health equity and reduce healthcare disparities. This workgroup is reviewing currently available measures that directly promote actions to address equity, determining which current cost and quality measures should be prioritized for stratification, and identifying concepts where measure development is needed. Based on our work identifying and developing measurement domains to promote health equity, we recommend the following principles for selecting and prioritizing measures for quality and disparity reporting:

- Measures meaningfully advance health equity or reduce healthcare disparities;
- Measures are unlikely to promote unintended adverse consequences;

- Measures provide a person-centered and holistic view of quality, including consideration of Social Determinants of Health (SDOH) and experience of care;
- Measures provide meaningful and usable information;
- Measures incentivize work on disparities reduction and improvement rather than penalize providers and payers who serve more socially disadvantaged patients;
- Measures are tailored to specific community needs and socioeconomic circumstances and focus on improvements within those populations rather than exist as flat standards to meet;
- Measures can be impacted by an intervention; and
- Data exists and is readily accessible to accurately support measurement.

If measures will be used in value-based care, we recommend the following principles for selecting and prioritizing measures for value-based care:

- Measures meaningfully advance health equity or reduce healthcare disparities with strong level of evidence necessary to include in value-based pay arrangements;
- Measures are unlikely to promote unintended adverse consequences;
- Measures are fully developed, accepted, and implemented measures (e.g., NQFendorsed, in use by health plans and/or CMS/states, used by NCQA or other similar entities);
- Measures should represent a balanced mix of process, outcome, structural measures;
- Measures should be implementable in value-based purchasing or alternative payment models;
- Measures should be within the locus of control of the measured entity;
- Measures should incentivize the reduction of disparities while protecting the safety-net; and
- Measures should balance between innovation and feasibility while minimizing burden.

#### RESPONSE

Thank you for sharing these important suggestions on approaches to further prioritize the disparities - sensitive measures identified in the CQMC core sets. This content was shared through AHIP's presentation on its Health Equity Measures for Value-Based Care Workgroup and related domains for health equity during the web meeting. The Health Equity Workgroup members acknowledge that it will be important to prioritize a smaller group of measures for initial efforts to assess and improve health equity through use of the CQMC core sets. These principles will be brought forth for the CQMC to consider as this work continues.

## Question 3: Please provide any comments on existing measures and measure concepts that promote health equity and align with CQMC's measure selection principles.

Aparna Gupta, National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization (NHPCO)

#### COMMENT

NHPCO recommends utilizing a currently identified framework or developing a framework that identifies and addresses the gaps between care settings and reflects the patient's journey from chronic disease to serious illness to end of life support. The framework must focus on preventative health and wellness, while at the same time allowing measure sets to evaluate the transition of the patient from one health status to another. This can also be considered as a "macro-framework" that includes multiple framework approaches (quality, equity ecosystem, social needs, etc.). NHPCO recognizes inequity in any aspect of the health care system will affect other aspects of the system.

#### WORKGROUP RESPONSE

Thank you for submitting this comment and highlighting the importance of examining transitions of care throughout a patient's care trajectory. The 2022 CQMC Health Equity Report is informed by several existing frameworks for health equity, but the Health Equity Workgroup recognizes that there are limitations to focusing this important work on ambulatory care settings and not addressing the full circle of care that a patient experiences.

The Workgroup agrees that it is important to maintain a holistic view of the patient journey and to recognize how individual patients experience health equity, or inequities, as they move through different care settings. Additional language has been added to the executive summary of the report to capture the gaps in health equity measurement presented in this comment.

## Question 4: Please provide any comments on future opportunities for the CQMC to advance health equity measurement.

#### Jessica Kwon, Memorial Care Medical Centers

#### COMMENT

The draft highlights the importance of having a diverse workforce, and mentions "learning systems" as methods to enable cultural responsiveness. Having measures that addresses workforce and training is critical to improving healthcare equity. Cultural responsiveness and training can improve outcomes, which we have seen in improvement in c-section rate disparities.

We appreciate the recognition of the importance of language and understanding metrics, as well as linguistically appropriate care. We believe health literacy is greatly important to clinical care.

#### WORKGROUP RESPONSE

Thank you for this comment and for providing additional details on the importance of cultural responsiveness training in the healthcare workforce. This comment was shared with the CQMC Health Equity Workgroup.

### Aparna Gupta, National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization (NHPCO)

#### COMMENT

NHPCO supports the future opportunities recommended by the Workgroup for the CQMC to advance health equity measures. NHPCO recommends providing additional communication and resources for smaller providers, or providers who will influence these measures but not necessarily responsible for the measure. These providers may not have the additional staff or technology updates to implement additional health equity measures or analysis but have the desire to address disparities. Not all providers start from the same place in regard to completing health equity analysis; some providers will need additional support and resources.

#### WORKGROUP RESPONSE

Thank you for providing this comment and your recommendation to provide additional resources for smaller providers and care team members. The 2022 CQMC Health Equity Final Report identifies an opportunity for the future creation of "how to" resources to guide organizations in their efforts to stratify data to assess disparities, and to leverage these data to address disparities identified. These guides would include strategies tailored to organizations varying in size, resources, and populations served. This comment was reviewed during the August 29, 2022, CQMC Health Equity Workgroup, and the Workgroup noted that another strategy to support these needs may be through establishing learning collaboratives to serve as a venue for organizations to share best-practices initiatives and lessons learned. The report has been updated to include language about this opportunity.

#### Question 5: Please provide any other comments or general feedback on the report.

#### Aparna Gupta, National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization (NHPCO)

#### COMMENT

NHPCO recognizes the core sets do not currently include hospice and palliative care; however, health equity in primary and curative care will provide better access to hospice and palliative care. We recognize the urgent need to make the entire health care system more equitable for all, including patients with serious and life-limiting illness. We are committed to support our community and partners as they do all they can to provide high quality, comprehensive, and holistic care. By ensuring patients are equitably served by the health care system, other issues can be addressed and patients can be better served by all providers.

#### WORKGROUP RESPONSE

Thank you for sharing this comment on the importance of promoting health equity in hospice and palliative care settings and in the broader healthcare ecosystem. The CQMC Medical Oncology Core Set includes several measures related to hospice and end-of-life care that were included in the review for this report. The CQMC Health Equity Workgroup agrees that it is imperative to advance health equity across the entire care continuum, including for patients with complex and continuing conditions such as those receiving hospice and palliative care. The Workgroup agrees that this is a current gap for the CQMC core sets.

# Appendix E: Health Equity Workgroup Members, Organizational Liaisons, and NQF Staff

#### Rama Salhi, MD, MHS, MS (Co-Chair)

Emergency Medicine Physician, American College of Emergency Physicians Boston, MA

Sai Ma, PhD (Co-Chair) Director, Clinical Strategy and Quality, Humana Inc. Louisville, KY

#### Lia Rodriguez, MD

Medical Director of Clinical Quality, Medical Affairs, Aetna Houston, TX

#### Natasha Avery, DrPH, LMSW, CHES, CPHQ

Executive Director, State & Federal Programs, Alliant Health Solutions Ridgeland, MS

#### Koryn Rubin, MHA

Assistant Director, Federal Affairs, American Medical Association Washington, DC

#### Kevin Bowman, MD, MBA, MPH

Director of Enterprise Clinical Quality MD, Anthem, Inc. Baltimore, MD

#### Phoebe Ramsey, JD

Manager, Regulatory Payment Policy and Quality, Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC) Washington, D.C.

Kellie Goodson, MS, CPXP

Chief Experience and Engagement Officer, ATW Health Solutions Inc. Chicago, IL

#### **Richard Antonelli, MD, MS**

Medical Director of Integrated Care, Boston Children's Hospital Boston, MA

#### Sarah Duggan Goldstein, DrPHc, MPH

Business Design Manager, Blue Cross Blue Shield Association Chicago, IL

**Wei Ying, MD, MS, MBA** Senior Director, Analytics, Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts Boston, MA

**Jennifer Hefele, PhD** Senior Scientist, Booz Allen Hamilton Rockville, MD

Katherine Haynes, MBA Sr Program Officer, California Health Care Foundation (CHFC) Oakland, CA

Erin DeLoreto, MPAP Vice President, CareAllies/Intracorp/CIGNA Bridgewater, NJ

**Osama Alsaleh, MA** Cerner Corporation Somerville, MA

**Troy Kaji, MD** Associate Chief Medical Officer, Contra Costa Health Services Martinez, CA

#### Kristen Welker-Hood, ScD, MSN, RN, PMP, LSSBB

Principal Associate, US Health, Abt Associates Durham, NC

#### Donna Washington, MD, MPH

Director, Health Equity/Quality Enhancement Research (OHE/QUERI) National Partnered Evaluation Center, Veterans Health Administration Los Angeles, CA

Anna Lee Amarnath, MD, MPH AMP General Manager, Integrated Healthcare Association (IHA) Oakland, CA

**Nikolas Matthes, MD, PhD, MPH** Assistant Vice President, IPRO New Hyde Park, NY

**Yvonne Commodore-Mensah, PhD, MHS, RN, FAHA, FPCNA, FAAN** Assistant Professor, Johns Hopkins School of Nursing Baltimore, MD

#### Stephanie Clouser, MA

Senior Director, Data Management and Innovation, Kentuckiana Health Collaborative Louisville, KY

#### Aswita Tan-McGory, MBA, MSPH

Director, The Disparities Solutions Center, Mass General Hospital Director, Equity in Care Implementation, Mass General Hospital Administrative Director of Research, Dept. of Medicine, Mass General Hospital Adjunct Faculty, Northeastern University Boston, MA

#### Sarah Shih, MPH

Assistant Vice President, National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) Washington, DC

#### Melissa Castora-Binkley, PhD

Senior Director of Research, Pharmacy Quality Alliance (PQA) Alexandria, VA

#### Caprice Vanderkolk, RN, BS, MS, BC-NE

President, Renal Healthcare Association Minneapolis, MN

#### Deborah Paone, DrPH, MHSA

Performance Evaluation Lead and Policy Consultant, SNP Alliance Washington, DC

#### Bridget McCabe, MD, MPH, FAAP

Vice President, Medical Director, Clinical Quality, Informatics & Innovation at Teladoc Health Purchase, NY

#### Christina Davidson, MD

Vice Chair of Quality, Patient Safety, and Equity, Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, Baylor College of Medicine and Chief Quality Officer, Obstetrics & Gynecology, Texas Children's Hospital Houston, TX

#### Catherine Oliveros, DrPH, MPH

Vice President of Community Health Improvement, Texas Health Resources Arlington, TX

#### Brenda Jones, DHSc, MSN, LSSGB, CPPS

Hospital Field Surveyor, The Joint Commission Chicago, IL

#### Kate Koplan, MD, MPH, FACP, CPPS

Associate Medical Director of Quality and Patient Safety, The SouthEAST Kaiser Permanente Georgia (KPGA) Atlanta, GA

#### Abbey Harburn, MPH

Quality Improvement Specialist, Wisconsin Collaborative for Healthcare Quality Madison, WI

#### Organizational Liaisons

#### Danielle Lloyd, MPH

Senior Vice President, Private Market Innovations & Quality Initiatives America's Health Insurance Plans (AHIP)

#### Erin O'Rourke

Executive Director, Clinical Performance and Transformation America's Health Insurance Plans (AHIP)

#### **Patrick Wynne**

Health Insurance Specialist, Quality Measurement and Value-Based Incentives Group Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)

Jessica Lee Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)

Tamyra Garcia, MPH Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)

**Tiffany Wiggins, MD, MPH** Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)

Shondelle Wilson-Frederick, PhD Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)

#### **Mia DeSoto, PhD, MHA** Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA)

**Girma Alemu, MD, MPH** Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA)

#### NQF Staff

Alejandra Herr, MPH Senior Managing Director

CQMC Health Equity Final Report

Nicolette Mehas, PharmD Senior Director

Chelsea Lynch, MPH, MSN, RN, CIC Director

Teresa Brown, MHA, MA, CPHQ, CPPS Director

**Rebecca Payne, MPH** Manager

Simone Bernateau Analyst